

# COMPOSITION AND PHOSPHORYLATION-DEPENDENT FUNCTIONAL INTERACTIONS OF THYLAKOID PROTEIN COMPLEXES IN ARABIDOPSIS

Marjaana Rantala

TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA – ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS Sarja – ser. Al osa – tom. 581 | Astronomica – Chemica – Physica – Mathematica | Turku 2018



Turun yliopisto University of Turku

# COMPOSITION AND PHOSPHORYLATION-DEPENDENT FUNCTIONAL INTERACTIONS OF THYLAKOID PROTEIN COMPLEXES IN ARABIDOPSIS

Marjaana Rantala

### **University of Turku**

Faculty of Science and Engineering Department of Biochemistry Laboratory of Molecular Plant Biology Doctoral Programme in Molecular Life Sciences

### Supervised by

Prof. Eva-Mari Aro Molecular Plant Biology Department of Biology University of Turku, Finland Dr. Marjaana Suorsa Molecular Plant Biology Department of Biology University of Turku, Finland

Dr. Mikko Tikkanen Molecular Plant Biology Department of Biology University of Turku, Finland

### **Reviewed by**

Prof. Kurt Fagerstedt Department of Biosciences University of Helsinki Finland

### Opponent

Prof. Stefano Caffarri Department of plant biology and environmental microbiology Aix-Marseille University France

Cover image by Saara Söderlund

The originality of this thesis has been checked in accordance with the University of Turku quality assurance system using the Turnitin OriginalityCheck service.

ISBN 978-951-29-7264-7 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-7265-4 (PDF) ISSN 0082-7002 (PRINT) ISSN 2343-3175 (ONLINE) Painosalama Oy - Turku, Finland 2018 Dr. Emilie Wientjes Department of Agrotechnology and Food Sciences Wageningen University Netherlands

### LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is composed of the following scientific articles, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

I. Suorsa M, <u>Rantala M</u>, Lespinasse M, Trotta A, Grieco M, Vuorio E, Tikkanen M, Järvi S, Aro EM (2015) Light acclimation involves dynamic re-organization of the pigment-protein megacomplexes in non-appressed thylakoid domains. *The Plant Journal* 84:360-73

II. Nageswara RM, Suorsa M, <u>Rantala M</u>, Aro EM, Tikkanen M (2015) Plants Actively Avoid State Transitions upon Changes in Light Intensity: Role of Light-Harvesting Complex II Protein Dephosphorylation in High Light. *Plant Physiology* 168:721-34

**III**. <u>Rantala M</u>, Lehtimäki N, Aro EM, Suorsa M (2016) Downregulation of TAP38/PPH1 enables LHCII hyperphosphorylation in Arabidopsis mutant lacking LHCII docking site in PSI. *FEBS Letters* 590:787-94

**IV**. <u>Rantala M</u>, Tikkanen M, Aro EM (2017) Proteomic characterization of hierarchical megacomplex formation in Arabidopsis thylakoid membrane. *The Plant Journal 5:951-962* 

Publications I, II and IV are reprinted by kind permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Publication II is reprinted by kind permission of ASPB

Other recent publications related to the topic

Järvi, S. <u>Rantala, M</u> & Aro, EM (2017) Oxygenic Photosynthesis — Light Reactions within the Frame of Thylakoid Architecture and Evolution. From book Ruban, A. & Barber, J. (edit) Photosynthesis and Bioenergetics, pp 243–263. World Scientific Publishing.

Plöchinger M, Torabi S, <u>Rantala M</u>, Tikkanen M, Suorsa M, Jensen PE, Aro EM, and Meurer J (2016) Impact of Psal on the Stable Association of the LHCII Docking Site of PSI, State Transition, and Dark Reduction of the Plastoquinone Pool in *Nicotiana Tabacum. Plant Physiology* 172:450-63

Trotta A, Suorsa M, <u>Rantala M</u>, Lundin B, Aro EM (2016) Serine and threonine residues of plant STN7 kinase are differentially phosphorylated upon changing light conditions and specifically influence the activity and stability of the kinase. Plant Journal 87:484-94

Suorsa M, <u>Rantala M</u>, Danielsson R, Järvi S, Paakkarinen V, Schröder WP, Styring S, Mamedov F, Aro EM (2014) Dark-adapted spinach thylakoid protein heterogeneity offers insights into the Photosystem II repair cycle. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1837:1463-71

### ABSTRACT

#### Marjaana Rantala Composition and phosphorylation-dependent functional interactions of thylakoid protein complexes in Arabidopsis

University of Turku, Department of Biochemistry, Molecular Plant Biology Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Turku 2018

In higher plants the thylakoid embedded pigment-protein complexes, photosystem (PS) I and PSII together with their respective light harvesting complex (LHC) antennas work in series to harvest solar energy and convert it into chemical energy. Profound understanding of the composition and interactions of the photosynthetic machinery is a prerequisite for understanding the function and regulation of the energy conversion reactions. The structure of individual components of the photosynthetic machinery has been resolved in high resolution and currently the interest is targeted at the supramolecular organization and light-dependent regulation of the photosynthetic protein complexes.

This thesis elucidates the overall organization of the thylakoid protein complex network providing structural insights into the hierarchical protein complex interactions in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. LHCII trimers are shown to mediate the supramolecular assemblies of the two photosystems and the strength of the interactions between individual subcomplexes is demonstrated using an optimized protein complex solubilization system together with two-dimensional native gel electrophoresis.

This thesis further addresses the dynamic nature of the protein super- and megacomplexes upon short-term light acclimation. It is shown that light intensity dependent LHCII phosphorylation causes re-arrangements of the protein complexes particularly in the non-appressed regions of the thylakoid membrane. The differential phosphorylation of distinct LHCII proteins, Lhcb1 and Lhcb2, is shown to occur in different pools of LHCII antenna trimers. Lhcb1 was found phosphorylated mainly in PSII-LHCII supercomplexes, whereas phosphorylated Lhcb2 is located exclusively in loosely bound LHCII, which is known to have a role in mediating the interaction of the PSI and PSII complexes upon dynamic changes in light intensity. The results of my thesis provide valuable information regarding the toolbox needed for the enhancement of photosynthetic productivity in the global attempts to meet the future challenges in food and bioenergy production.

## TIIVISTELMÄ

#### Marjaana Rantala Composition and phosphorylation-dependent functional interactions of thylakoid protein complexes in Arabidopsis

Turun yliopisto, Biokemia, Molekulaarinen kasvibiologia Annales Universitatis Turkuensis, Turku 2018

Kasvien viherhiukkasten tylakoidikalvostolla sijaitsevat suuret pigmentti-proteiinikompleksit, fotosysteemi (PS) I ja PSII yhdessä niitä ympäröivien valohaavien kanssa (LHC), keräävät auringon valoenergiaa ja muuttavat sen kemialliseksi energiaksi fotosynteesin valoreaktioissa. Fotosynteesiä katalysoivien yksittäisten proteiinikompleksien rakenteet on onnistuttu selvittämään lähes atomitarkkuudella, mutta fotosynteesikoneiston toiminnan ja säätelyn ymmärtäminen edellyttää lisäksi tylakoidikalvostolla sijaitsevien proteiinikompleksien välisten vuorovaikutusten ja järjestäytymisen tuntemista. Fotosynteesikoneiston säätelyn kannalta tärkeää on myös ymmärtää, kuinka muuttuvat ympäristöolosuhteet muokkaavat proteiinikompleksien välisiä vuorovaikutuksia.

Fotosynteettisten proteiinikompleksien analyysiä varten kompleksit on ensin eristettävä tylakoidikalvostolta miedoilla detergenteillä. Optimoimallani suurten ja labiilien proteiinikompleksien eristysmenetelmän avulla selvitin, kuinka yksittäiset fotosynteettiset proteiinikompleksit ovat järjestäytyneet lituruohon (*Arabidopsis thaliana*) viherhiukkasten tylakoidikalvostolla suuremmiksi komplekseiksi. Näiden kompleksien välisiä hierarkkisia vuorovaikutuksia tutkin optimoimallani 2D-natiivigeelielektroforessilla. Osoitin, että molemmat fotosysteemit, yhdessä hyvin löyhästi kiinnittyneen L-LHCII-valohaavin kanssa, muodostavat suuria super- ja megakomplekseja, jotka hajoavat alayksiköikseen L-LHCII-kompleksin irrotessa.

Fotosynteesikoneiston on sopeuduttava alati muuttuviin valo-olosuhteisiin, ja LHCII proteiinien fosforylaation tiedetään vaikuttavan ratkaisevasti kasvien valosopeutumiseen. Työssäni havainnollistin, kuinka LHCII-kompleksin Lhcb1- ja Lhcb2 -proteiinien palautuva fosforylaatio vaikuttaa koko fotosynteesikoneiston järjestäytymiseen, erityisesti tylakoidikalvoston pinoutumattomilla alueilla. Osoitin että Lhcb1-proteiinin fosforylaatio tapahtuu pääasiassa PSII-kompleksiin tiukasti kiinnittyneissä LHCII-komplekseissa, kun taas Lhcb2-proteiinin fosforylaatio, joka vaikuttaa erityisesti LHCII- ja PSI-kompleksin väliseen vuorovaikutukseen, tapahtuu lähes yksinomaan fotosysteemeihin löyhästi kiinnittyneessä L-LHCII-kompleksissa. Löytämäni tulokset auttavat ymmärtämään paremmin valoreaktioiden toimintaa, ja sen säätelyä muuttuvissa ympäristöolosuhteissa. Fotosynteesin säätelymekanismien tunteminen luo lisäksi perustan soveluksille, joilla pyritään parantamaan kasvien tuottavuutta.

# ABBREVIATIONS

ATP	Adenosine triphosphate		
ACA	Aminocaproic acid		
BN	Blue native		
С	PSII core monomer		
CET	Cyclic electron transfer		
CBB	Coomassie Brilliant Blue		
Chl	Chlorophyll		
CURT1	CURVATURE THYLAKOID1		
Cyt	Cytochrome		
DIG	Digitonin		
DM	Dodecyl-maltoside		
ETC	Electron transfer chain		
Fd	Ferredoxin		
FNR	Fd-NADPH-oxidoreductase		
GL	Growth light		
HL	High light conditions		
LET	Linear electron transfer		
LHC	Light harvesting complex		
LL	Low light		
L-LHCII	Loosely bound LHCII		
M-LHCII	Moderately bound LHCII		
NADPH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced)		
$NADP^+$	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (oxidized)		
NDH	NAD(P)H dehydrogenase-like complex		
NPQ	Non-photochemical quenching		
OEC	Oxygen evolving complex		
P680/P680 <sup>+</sup>	Red/ox primary electron donor of PSII		
P700/P700 <sup>+</sup>	Red/ox primary electron donor of PSI		
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis		
PBCP	PSII CORE PHOSPHATASE		
PC	Plastocyanin		
pН	Negative logarithm of the proton concentration		
pmf	Proton motive force		
PS	Photosystem		
P-Thr	Phosphothreonine		
PQ	Plastoquinone		

PQH2	Plastoquinol	
Q <sub>A/B</sub>	Primary electron-accepting plastoquinones of PSI	
RC	Reaction center	
RIQ	REDUCED INDUCTION OF NPQ	
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate	
S-LHCII	Strongly bound LHCII	
SMA	Styrene maleic acid	
STN7	STATE TRANSITION 7 kinase	
STN8	STATE TRANSITION 8 kinase	
TAP38	Thylakoid-associated phosphatase of 38 KDa	
PBCP	PSII core phosphatase	
VDE	Violaxanthin de-epoxidase	
WT	Wild-type	
Å	Ångström (= 0.1 nm)	

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

ABSTRACT

TIIVISTELMÄ

ABBREVIATIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	10
1.1 Photosynthesis	10
1.2 Structure of photosynthetic pigment-protein complexes	10
1.2.1 Light harvesting antennas	11
1.2.2 PSII, PSI and Cyt b <sub>6</sub> f	12
1.3 Function of photosynthetic protein complexes	14
1.4 Organization of protein complexes in the thylakoid membrane	15
1.4.1 The Thylakoid membrane ultrastructure and lateral heterogeneity of prot	tein
complexes	15
1.4.2 Role of LHCII in thylakoid membrane stacking	17
1.5 Phosphorylation dependent dynamic regulation of photosynthetic machinery.	17
1.5.1 PSII core phosphorylation and repair cycle	18
1.5.2 LHCII phosphorylation in short-term light acclimation	19
1.6 Current methods in the analysis of membrane protein complexes	20
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	22
3. METHODOLOGY	23
3.1 Plant material and standard growth conditions	23
3.2 Light treatments, thylakoid isolation and chl determination	23
3.3 Protein analysis with SDS-PAGE	23
3.4 Analysis of native protein complexes	24
3.5 77K chl fluorescence measurements	24
3.6 Transcript analysis	25

4. OVERVIEW OF THE RESULTS
4.1 Photosynthetic protein megacomplexes and regulatory proteins in the non-appressed regions of the thylakoid membrane
4.5 Role of differential Lhcb1/Lhcb2 protein phosphorylation in protein super- and megacomplexes
5. DISCUSSION
<ul><li>5.1 Building blocks of thylakoid protein super-and megacomplexes</li></ul>
CONCLUSIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

### 1. INTRODUCTION

### 1.1 Photosynthesis

Almost all life on Earth relies on oxygenic photosynthesis, in which the energy from the sun is absorbed and converted into chemical energy by photoautotrophic organisms: plants, algae and cyanobacteria. Photosynthetic light reactions are catalyzed by membrane-embedded pigment-protein complexes that harvest solar energy, transfer it to reaction centers and ultimately store the energy in NADPH and ATP molecules. In the Calvin-Benson-Bassham cycle the energy of ATP and NADPH is used to assimilate the atmospheric carbon dioxide into organic compounds. The principal energy conversion reactions are similar in all oxygenic photosynthetic organisms, but the light harvesting, and regulation of the photosynthetic apparatus show distinct evolutionary diversity. During the past decades the knowledge of the function and structure of the photosynthetic apparatus has accumulated greatly, yet the dynamic organization and regulation of the energy conversion machinery still require extensive research. Since almost all chemical energy, most importantly food and fuel, is provided by photosynthesis, the thorough understanding of the photosynthetic process and its regulation is a prerequisite for developing applications that aim at improved productivity of photosynthetic organisms and work towards clean and renewable bioenergy production platforms.

### **1.2** Structure of photosynthetic pigment-protein complexes

In higher plants, photosynthesis takes place in specialized subcellular organelles, the chloroplasts, which originate from ancient endosymbiont cyanobacteria. Chloroplasts are separated from the cytoplasm by a double membrane envelope, which in turn, encloses an extensive internal membrane system known as the thylakoids. The thylakoid lipid bilayer segregates two aqueous compartments, the stroma and lumen, and provides the matrix for the photosynthetic protein complexes. Light absorption and the primary reactions of photosynthesis occur in the thylakoid membrane and are mediated by membrane embedded large multisubunit protein complexes: photosystem (PS) II and PSI, which are associated with peripheral light harvesting antennas. Cytochrome (Cyt)  $b_6$ f interconnects the two photosystems whereas another complex, ATP synthase, functions in ATP formation.

#### 1.2.1 Light harvesting antennas

In higher plants, solar energy is predominantly captured by the Lhc super-gene familyencoded light harvesting antennas that bind several chlorophylls and carotenoids (Jansson, 1999). Two distinct but structurally very similar chlorophylls, *a* and *b*, are typically present at a 3 to 1 ratio in higher plants. The principal photosynthetic pigment, Chl-*a*, is present in both photosystems and in the light harvesting antenna, while the majority of the accessory pigment, Chl-*b*, is present in the LHCII antenna trimers that bind half of all thylakoid chlorophyll molecules (Liu et al., 2004). The peripheral light harvesting antenna of PSI (LHCI) comprises four major light harvesting proteins (Lhca1-4) whereas three major (Lhcb1-3) and three minor lhcb proteins (Lhcb4-6, also known as CP29,CP26 and CP24) constitute the LHCII antenna of PSII (Jansson, 1999; Ballottari et al., 2004). LHCII proteins (Figure 1) consist of three transmembrane  $\alpha$ helices, labelled A, B and C, and of two luminal helices D and E (Kühlbrandt and Wang, 1991; Kühlbrandt et al., 1994; Liu et al., 2004).



**Figure 1.** Schematic presentation of the LHCII monomer in parallel with a membrane plane. The  $\alpha$ -helices (A-E), the loop regions between the helices and the N-and C-terminals are indicated.

The most abundant LHCII protein Lhcb1 together with the Lhcb2 and Lhcb3 proteins form hetero trimers, which along with the three minor antenna proteins Lhcb4, Lhcb5 and Lhcb6 account for light harvesting and excitation energy transfer to the PSII core. A fraction of the LHCII trimers also function as an antenna for PSI and the phosphorylation of the N-terminus of Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 proteins is known to play a key role in the regulation of excitation energy balance between PSII and PSI (Bennett, 1991; Allen, 1992; Tikkanen et al., 2012; Wientjes et al., 2013a). In addition, LHCII is involved in the dissipation of excess excitation energy in a photoprotective process called non-photochemical quenching (NPQ) (Müller et al., 2001). The activation of NPQ is dependent on low luminal pH, which induces protonation of acidic amino acids of the PsbS protein, and on the activation of the violaxanthin de-epoxidase entzyme (VDE). VDE catalyzes the conversion of LHCII bound xanthophyll, violaxanthin, into zeaxanthin, which is an effective excitation energy quencher (Niyogi et al., 1998). Further, the protonated PsbS induces conformational changes in LHCII proteins resulting in safe dissipation of excess energy as heat (Li et al., 2000; Jahns and Holzwarth, 2012).

#### 1.2.2 PSII, PSI and Cyt b<sub>6</sub>f

The PSII reaction center complex (RC) is composed of the PsbA (D1), PsbD (D2) and PsbI proteins as well as of the  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -subunits of the Cyt b559 complex. RC is the minimal unit required for primary photochemical reactions (Nanba and Satoh, 1987; Ikeuchi and Inoue, 1988). The PSII core monomer (C) consists the RC that is surrounded by integral, chl-a binding light harvesting antenna proteins PsbB (CP47) and PsbC (CP43) and several smaller intrinsic and extrinsic subunits (Wei et al., 2016; Bezouwen et al., 2017). The PSII core monomer coordinates a remarkable number of pigments including 37 chlorophylls, 10 carotenoids and other cofactors including quinones and non-heme iron (Wei et al., 2016). The extrinsic oxygen-evolving complex (OEC) stabilizes the Mn<sub>4</sub>CaO<sub>5</sub> cluster, which is responsible for the water oxidation mechanism of PSII. The PSII core is assembled as a dimer (C2) in its active form. The core together with LHCII forms large C2S2M2 supercomplexes, where each of the core monomer is associated with one strongly bound (S)-LHCII and one moderately bound (M)-LHCII (Figure 2A). The structure of C2S2M2 supercomplex in Arabidopsis thaliana has been resolved at an overall resolution of 5.2 Å (Bezouwen et al., 2017) and from Pisum sativum at 2.7–3.2 Å resolution (Su et al., 2017). The S-LHCII is Lhcb1/Lhcb2heterotrimer that is linked to the PSII core via the Lhcb5 protein (CP26), whereas M-LHCII consisting of Lhcb1 and Lhcb3 proteins, is associated to the core with Lhcb4 (CP29) and Lhcb6 (CP24) proteins (Boekema et al., 1999; Caffarri et al., 2009). Lhcb3 and Lhcb6 evolved after the divergence between algae and land plants, but interestingly, are missing from the gymnosperm family Pinaceae (Kouřil et al., 2016). The Lhcb3 protein is similar to Lhcb1/Lhcb2, but specific structural differences in the N-terminus and in AC and BC loops facilitate the interaction of the Lhcb3 protein with Lhcb6, and thereby determine the binding orientation of the trimer to the core complex (Su et al., 2017). Since the Lhcb1/3 trimer, together with Lhcb4 and Lhcb6, easily detaches from C2S2M2 supercomplexes during solubilization (Caffarri et al., 2009), M-LHCII may be considered a relatively stable pentamer. In addition to S- and M-LHCII, the C2S2M2 supercomplexes can bind several loosely bound (L)-LHCII trimers that occupy the spaces between individual PSII-LHCII supercomplexes in the grana core (Dekker and Boekema, 2005; Sznee et al., 2011; Ruban and Johnson, 2015). Occasionally, the PSII-LHCII supercomplexes laterally assemble into semi-crystalline arrays (Kirchhoff et al., 2007; Daum et al., 2010; Kouřil et al., 2012), and interact on their stromal surface with complexes on an adjacent membrane layer (Albanese et al., 2016, Su et al., 2017). The vertical interaction of PSII-LHCII supercomplexes probably plays a key role in the stabilization of grana-appressions (Daum et al., 2010).

#### Introduction

The PSI reaction center is a PsaA/PsaB-heterodimer that is surrounded by several smaller subunits PsaC-PsaL, PsaN and PsaO. The PSI core is fused with the LHCI complex, which forms a half-moon shaped belt on the PsaF side of the core complex (Figure 2B) (Amunts et al., 2007). The LHCI antenna is composed of four Lhca proteins, of which the Lhca1/Lhca4 and Lhca2/Lhca3 form functional heterodimers (Wientjes and Croce, 2011). Similar to PSII, also the PSI-LHCI complex binds several prosthetic groups including chlorophylls, carotenoids and lipids. Located opposite to the LHCI binding site, the PSI subunits PsaH, PsaL, PsaO and PsaI provide a docking site for L-LHCII (Lunde et al., 2000; Galka et al., 2012; Mazor et al., 2015). Further, a pool of L-LHCII transfers excitation energy to PSI via LHCI antenna (Benson et al., 2015). Another two Lhca proteins of PSI, Lhca5 and Lhca6, have been shown to mediate the supercomplex formation between PSI and the NADPH dehydrogenase-like (NHD) complex (Peng et al., 2008; Peng et al., 2009; Kouřil et al., 2014).



**Figure 2.** Overall structures of plant photosystem supercomplexes highlighting the light harvesting antennas (A) Top view of the C2S2M2 supercomplex demonstrates the binding sites of S (S1-S3)- and M-LHCII (M1-M3) to the PSII core (C) monomers. CP29, CP26 and CP24 denote the minor antenna proteins Lhcb4-Lhcb6, respectively. (B) Top view of PSI complex shows the location of the LHCI antenna and the L-LHCII (L1-L3) binding on a site composed of the PsaH, PsaL, PsaO and PsaI subunits.

The Cyt  $b_6f$  dimer mediates the electron transfer between the two photosystems by oxidizing and reducing mobile electron carriers, plastoquinol (PQH<sub>2</sub>) and plastocyanin (PC), respectively (Huang et al., 1994). Each Cyt  $b_6f$  monomer is composed of Cyt f (PetA), Rieske (Pet C), Cyt  $b_6$  (Pet B) and subunit IV (Pet D), which are all involved in the electron transfer reactions. Further, the complex contains at least four additional subunits and binds four hemes, one 2Fe-2S as well as a chlorophyll and a  $\beta$ -carotene with so far unknown functions (Kurisu et al., 2003).

### **1.3 Function of photosynthetic protein complexes**

Solar energy is captured by the LHC-bound pigments, mainly by the chlorophylls that transfer the energy to the reaction centers. The antenna system does not perform any chemistry, the absorption of light and the transfer of the electronic excited states from one pigment to another is a purely physical process. The transformation of the physical energy of the chlorophyll excited state into chemical energy takes place in the reaction centers. The PSII RC contains a special Chl-a dimer P680, which is promoted to an excited state (P680\*), either by direct photon absorption or by energy transfer from the antenna. P680\* rapidly loses the excited electron to a first electron acceptor, Pheo, which immediately transfers the electron to plastoquinones. A mobile plastoquinone  $Q_B$  is fully reduced to plastoquinol after receiving two electrons from plastoquinone Qa, and two protons from the stroma.  $PQH_2$  is released from the  $Q_B$  pocket of the D1 protein in PSII and oxidized twice by Cyt b<sub>6</sub>f, which concomitantly expels the protons into the lumen. The electrons are further transferred from Cyt  $b_6$  f to PC, which then re-reduces the PSI RC chlorophyll pair P700<sup>+</sup> that similarly to PSII has donated an excited electron to the primary electron acceptor of PSI. The electron from P700\* moves via three Fe-S clusters to ferredoxin (Fd) and further to Fd-NADPH-oxidoreductase (FNR), which finally reduces NADP<sup>+</sup> to NADPH.

The primary electron donor (P680<sup>+</sup>) of PSII is a highly oxidizing molecule that is rereduced by electrons derived from water. The water splitting occurs at the OEC complex and is catalyzed by a manganese (Mn<sub>4</sub>CaO<sub>5</sub>) cluster that extracts four electrons from water, simultaneously expelling protons into the lumen, to release one molecule of oxygen. The protons expelled into the lumen during water oxidation, and those released from the stroma to the lumen simultaneously with the plastoquinol (PQH<sub>2</sub>) oxidation at  $Q_0$  site of the Cyt b<sub>6</sub>f complex, create a proton gradient ( $\Delta$ pH) and a membrane potential ( $\Delta$ \Psi) across the thylakoid membrane. This electrochemical gradient constitutes a proton motive force (*pmf*) utilized for ATP production by ATPase. The entire chain in which the two photosystems work in series to produce NADPH and ATP (Figure 3), is called linear electron transfer (LET) and the energy stored in these molecules is used in the fixation of CO<sub>2</sub> into carbohydrates, in photorespiration and in several other metabolic processes such as nitrogen and sulfur metabolism.

In addition to LET, alternative electron transfer routes take place in the thylakoid membrane. In cyclic electron transfer (CET) the electrons are cycled around PSI and only ATP is generated. Two CET-pathways, the so called PGR (proton gradient regulation) and NDH (NAD(P)H dehydrogenase-like complex) mediated CET are known (Munekage et al., 2002; DalCorso et al., 2008). Currently, both pathways are considered Fd-dependent, i.e. electrons from Fd are directed to the PQ pool and then transferred through Cyt  $b_6$  back to PSI (Yamori and Shikanai, 2016). The protons

pumped from the stroma to the lumen through Cyt  $b_6f$  generate the *pmf*, which is utilized in ATP production. Since NADPH is not produced, CET functions in fine-tuning the ATP/NADPH ratio to meet the metabolic requirements. Further, the CET-induced acidification of the lumen and consequent downregulation of the Cyt  $b_6f$ , and the induction of the energy-dependent qE component of NPQ, prevent the over-reduction of the electron transfer chain (ETC) and thus protects both photosystems against photodamage (Suorsa et al., 2012).



**Figure 3.** Simplified scheme of the linear electron transfer route in the plant thylakoid membrane. The electron and proton transfer reactions are indicated with solid and dashed line arrows, respectively. Only the elemental complexes involved in LET are illustrated in the membrane.

### **1.4** Organization of protein complexes in the thylakoid membrane

### 1.4.1 The Thylakoid membrane ultrastructure and lateral heterogeneity of protein complexes

The thylakoid lipid bilayer is composed mainly of glycolipids, which constitute around 30% of the total membrane area (Kirchhoff et al., 2002). The remaining area is occupied by the photosynthetic protein complexes. In higher plants the ultrastructure of the thylakoid membrane is remarkably heterogenic consisting of appressed grana thylakoids and non-appressed stroma thylakoids (Figure 4A). The exact three-dimensional organization of the thylakoid network remains controversial. According to a helical fretwork model (Figure 4B), the stroma thylakoids wind around the grana stacks as right-handed helices that are interconnected to the stacks by fusion of narrow membrane protrusions (Paolillo, 1970; Brangeon and Mustardy, 1979; Mustárdy and Garab, 2003). The folded membrane model, on the contrary, postulates that the continuous thylakoid

system is folded into repeated units each containing three grana stacks (Arvidsson and Sundby, 1999). It has also been proposed that the grana is composed of paired layers that are bifurcations of fused stroma membrane sheets (Shimoni et al., 2005). According to this model, the neighboring grana units are further interconnected by membrane bridges.

The grana stacks have a diameter ranging from 300 to 600 nm, and contain 5-20 folded thylakoid layers depending on the plant species and the light condition (Mustárdy and Garab, 2003; Daum et al., 2010). The thylakoid membrane system encloses a continuous soluble space, the lumen (width 4.5-5 nm). The width of the partition gap on the stromal side of two appressed thylakoid membranes is 3.2-4 nm (Kirchhoff et al., 2007; Daum et al., 2010).



**Figure 4.** Models of the different compartments of the plant thylakoid network. (A) Simplified model of the plant thylakoid membrane shows the distinct thylakoid fractions: the appressed grana core, the surrounding grana margins and the non-appressed stroma thylakoids. The width of the lumen and the partition gap are indicated. (B) The different thylakoid fractions according to the helical model.

The grana stacks account for 80% of the total membrane area (Albertsson, 2001) and the individual stacks are interconnected by non-appressed stroma thylakoids. A distinct membrane region, grana margins, has been considered to represent an annular region in the interphase of the grana core and stroma thylakoids, near the curved regions of the grana (Wollenberger et al., 1994; Albertsson, 2001). However, electron microscopy data suggest that the space between the curved regions and the appressed grana core is too narrow to host protein complexes, and it was therefore suggested that the margins, in fact, comprise the junctional slits, which according to the helical fretwork model directly

connect the grana stacks to stroma thylakoids (Anderson et al., 2012; Ruban and Johnson, 2015).

The photosynthetic protein complexes are unevenly distributed in the heterogeneous thylakoid membrane (Andersson and Anderson, 1980). The majority of the PSII-LHCII supercomplexes are present in appressed thylakoids whereas PSI and ATP synthase are enriched in non-appressed thylakoids due to their large membrane-protruding structures that extend 5nm and 16 nm above the membrane on the stromal side, thereby preventing their access to the tightly packed grana appressions (Nevo et al., 2012). The location of Cyt  $b_{6}f$  is controversial, but most studies report it is evenly distributed in all thylakoid fractions (Anderson, 1982; Albertsson et al., 1991). The distribution, however, is likely dependent on the light conditions (Kirchhoff et al., 2017). The grana margins, whose exact location remains enigmatic, host a different set of protein complexes than the pure grana core and the stroma thylakoids. Data obtained from mechanically fractionated thylakoid network samples demonstrate that this area accommodates both photosystems (Wollenberger et al., 1994; Albertsson, 2001), which have later been suggested to form large megacomplexes (Järvi et al., 2011).

### 1.4.2 Role of LHCII in thylakoid membrane stacking

The whole complexity of the grana stacking is still elusive, but the role of cations in the stack formation was established already decades ago, when the removal of cations from isolated thylakoid suspension was shown to result in complete grana de-stacking and the randomization of the pigment protein complexes (Murata, 1969; Barber, 1980). It was discovered that the cations are screened between LHCII proteins on adjacent membrane layers and form strong salt bridges with the negatively charged amino acids of LHCII, thereby mediating the grana stacking (Barber, 1980). While the electrostatic screening of the negatively charged stromal loop of LHCII is considered to constitute the primary stabilizing force of the membrane appression, the interaction of the positively charged N-terminus with the negatively charged amino acids in the stromal loop of LHCII on neighboring membrane layers is also involved in grana formation (Standfuss et al., 2005). Further, the CURVATURE THYLAKOID1 (CURT1) and REDUCED INDUCTION OF NON-PHOTOCHEMICAL QUENCING (RIQ)1 and RIQ2 proteins were recently found to be involved in regulation of grana stacking (Armbruster et al., 2013; Yokoyama et al., 2016).

# 1.5 Phosphorylation dependent dynamic regulation of photosynthetic machinery

In natural environments the intensity and the spectral composition of light fluctuate rapidly, and the photosynthetic apparatus needs to respond to these changes to keep the

ETC balanced, to protect the machinery against damage by excess light energy and to allow the repair of damaged components. The thylakoid membrane is a remarkably flexible network that undergoes several structural changes such as swelling of the lumen, alterations in grana height and unstacking of the grana in response to fluctuations in light conditions (Anderson, 1986; Khatoon et al., 2009; Herbstová et al., 2012). These changes were initially thought to occur as long-term responses to environmental changes, but more recently they were shown to occur in time-scale of minutes (Rozak et al., 2002). Reversible phosphorylation of LHCII and PSII proteins appears to be among the most important regulators of these short-term changes. Post-translational protein phosphorylation, i.e. the covalent addition of a phosphate group to the side chains of serine (Ser), threonine (Thr) or tyrosine (Tyr) residues, serves as one of the most important regulatory mechanisms in plants. Almost 200 chloroplast phosphoproteins and 28 thylakoid-located phosphoproteins have been discovered from the model plant Arabidopsis (Reiland et al., 2009). Protein phosphorylation is catalyzed by protein kinases whereas the removal of the phosphate group is mediated by protein phosphatases. The reversible phosphorylation of several PSII core and LHCII proteins influences the interactions of the thylakoid protein complexes and affect to the attractive and repulsive forces of adjacent membrane layers in the grana. Thylakoid protein phosphorylation thus plays a key role in the regulation of photosynthetic light reactions upon changes in light conditions.

#### 1.5.1 PSII core phosphorylation and repair cycle

Light is essential for driving photosynthesis, but light energy beyond what is utilized by photosynthesis, can lead to oxidative damage of the photosynthetic apparatus, and consequently result in the reduction of photosynthetic capacity. PSII reaction center protein D1 is particularly prone to photodamage, which leads to the irreversible photoinactivation of the entire reaction center (Demmig-Adams and Adams, 1992). Consequently, the PSII-LHCII complexes disassemble, and the frequency of PSII-semicrystalline arrays in the grana decreases (Kouřil et al., 2013). Restoration of PSII function after photoinhibition occurs via a complex repair cycle in which the photoinhibited PSII complexes migrate from the grana core to the non-appressed membrane regions, where the damaged D1 protein is degraded by specific proteases and replaced with a new copy (Aro et al., 1993). The majority of the auxiliary proteins involved in the PSII repair cycle are located in the non-appressed thylakoids (Suorsa et al., 2014). The PSII core phosphorylation plays an important role in the PSII repair cycle as the negative charge introduced by the phosphate group creates electrostatic repulsion, which loosens the macroscopic folding of the grana and thereby facilitates the disassembly of the damaged PSII complexes thus allowing their migration to the nonappressed membrane regions (Tikkanen et al., 2008b; Fristedt et al., 2009; Järvi et al.,

2015). The reversible phosphorylation of D1, D2, CP43 and PsbH on Thr residues upon exposure to high light is catalyzed by the STN8 kinase (Vainonen et al., 2005; Bonardi et al., 2005), which is associated with the PSII-LHCII supercomplexes (Wunder et al., 2013b). The dephosphorylation of the PSII proteins by PSII CORE PHOSPHATASE (PBCP) (Samol et al., 2012) is a prerequisite for proteolytic degradation of the D1 protein (Rintamäki et al., 1996).

#### 1.5.2 LHCII phosphorylation in short-term light acclimation

In addition to the PSII core, also the LHCII antenna undergo reversible phosphorylation (Bennett, 1977). The phosphorylation of the N-terminal Thr residue of Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 proteins is catalyzed by the STN7 kinase (Bellafiore et al., 2005). The LHCII phosphorylation serves as an important short-term acclimation mechanism that ensures excitation energy balance between PSII and PSI in changing environmental conditions (Bennett et al., 1980; Tikkanen et al., 2006; Pesaresi et al., 2009). The redox-dependent kinase is located in close proximity of Cyt  $b_6f$  and is activated by the binding of plastoquinol to the  $Q_0$  site of the complex (Vener et al., 1997). Further, STN7 possesses four phosphosites, three Thr and one Ser residue, and the activity and turn-over of the kinase was recently discovered to be linked to the phosphorylation of the Ser and two of the Thr residues (Trotta et al., 2016). The activity of the STN7 kinase is also dependent on the stromal redox state (Rintamäki et al., 2000).

The counteracting phosphatase required for LHCII dephosphorylation was discovered recently by two independent groups and was named THYLAKOID-ASSOCIATED PHOSPHATASE OF 38 KDa / PROTEIN PHOSPHATASE 1 (hereafter TAP38) (Pribil et al., 2010; Shapiguzov et al., 2010). The type 2C Ser/Thr protein phosphatase (PP2C) recognizes specifically two basic residues (arginine and lysine) on the N-terminus of the LHCII proteins (Wei et al., 2015). The regulation of the phosphatase has remained elusive but it is known to be constitutively expressed and redox-independent (Pribil et al., 2010).

The role of LHCII phosphorylation has been traditionally studied by exposing plants to different wavelengths of light that specifically excite one photosystem over another (Allen and Forsberg, 2001; Rochaix, 2007). 'State 2' light (650/470nm) treatment preferentially excites PSII and results in concomitant maximal phosphorylation of LHCII and the PSII core, whereas treatment with 'state 1' light (far-red light) favors the excitation of PSI and results in complete dephosphorylation of LHCII and the PSII core (Tikkanen et al., 2010). 'State 2' light induced phosphorylation of LHCII leads to a dramatic increase of PSI absorption cross-section, which according to a *state transition* model is explained by the migration of the LHCII trimer, associated to PSII in the grana, to PSI complexes in the stroma thylakoids. The LHCII phosphorylation, indeed, induces

a formation of an isolatable PSI-LHCII i.e. "state transition" complex (Pesaresi et al., 2009). The phosphorylated LHCII trimer interacts with the PSI complex at LHCII docking site composed of the PsaH, PsaL, PsaO and PsaI proteins (Lunde et al., 2000; Mazor et al., 2015; Plöchinger et al., 2016). The phosphorylated LHCII transfers excitation energy preferentially to PSI and the PSI absorption cross-section therefore increases.

Under more natural white light illumination, the LHCII proteins are always moderately phosphorylated throughout the thylakoid membrane (Tikkanen et al., 2006) and a fraction of LHCII has been shown to function as an innate antenna for PSI (Galka et al., 2012; Kouřil et al., 2013; Wientjes et al., 2013a). Importantly and differently from artificial 'state light' treatments, fluctuations in white light intensity affect phosphorylation of the PSII core and LHCII proteins in an opposite manner (Rintamäki et al., 1997). Upon exposure to low light, the LHCII phosphorylation reaches a maximum, whereas the PSII core proteins are only minimally phosphorylated. A study based on gentle mechanical fractionation of the thylakoid membrane revealed that although a fraction of phosphorylated (p)LHCII migrates to stroma thylakoids, the PSI absorption cross-section remains unchanged in this fraction, whereas in the grana margins the energy flow to PSI is enhanced although the amount of LHCII remains unchanged (Tikkanen et al., 2008a). It was therefore suggested that the grana margins, which host both photosystems, might play an important role in the regulation of light harvesting under light limiting conditions. Although it is clear that phosphorylation modulates the interaction of LHCII with the photosystems, it remains elusive, how it affects the organization of the entire protein complex network and the ultrastructure of the thylakoid membrane system.

Upon exposure of plants to high light, the STN8 kinase becomes fully activated and the PSII core phosphorylation extends to the maximum (Rintamäki et al., 1997). Concomitantly, the STN7 kinase become deactivated and LHCII becomes dephosphorylated. Despite the high-light-induced changes in PSII-LHCII phosphorylation, the relative excitation of PSII and PSI remains rather unchanged (Tikkanen et al., 2010) and the physiological role of the opposing phosphorylation of the PSII core and the LHCII antenna in high light remains poorly understood.

# 1.6 Current methods in the analysis of membrane protein complexes

Blue-native PAGE (BN-PAGE) is a gel-electrophoresis system that is well suited for the analysis of the composition and dynamics of the thylakoid pigment-protein complexes. The method was originally developed for the analysis of mitochondrial respiratory complexes (Schägger and von Jagow, 1991) and later adapted and further optimized for

the analysis of thylakoid membrane protein complexes (Kügler et al., 1997; Järvi et al., 2011). Prior to separation by native-PAGE, the protein complexes are isolated from the thylakoid membrane. The isolation mainly relies on the use of surface-active agents that destabilize the membrane and bind to the hydrophobic sectors of the isolated proteins. Mild nonionic detergents, such as  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ -dodecyl maltoside ( $\beta$ -DM) or digitonin (DIG), are typically used for isolation of native protein complexes from the thylakoid integrity (Aro et al., 2005; Caffarri et al., 2009; Järvi et al., 2011). β-DM solubilizes the protein complexes from the entire thylakoid membrane, but it destroys weak hydrophobic interactions between protein complexes (Wittig et al., 2006). DIG preserves labile interactions between protein complexes (Schägger and Pfeiffer, 2000), but the bulky structured DIG exclusively solubilizes protein complexes from the non-appressed regions of the membrane as the tight packing of the grana prevents the solubilization of the appressed regions (Järvi et al., 2011). Thus, the analysis of the entire thylakoid network is achieved only with slightly stronger detergents, such as  $\beta$ -DM, but this occurs at the cost of losing the labile hydrophobic interactions between individual protein complexes.

## 2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

Although high-resolution structures of photosynthetic protein complexes are available and important details on the molecular mechanisms behind the thylakoid protein phosphorylation have been reported during the past few decades, the dynamic organization of the photosynthetic protein complexes in the thylakoid membrane upon short-term light acclimation still remains elusive. The aim of my PhD work was to characterize the organization of the pigment-protein complexes in thylakoid membrane and elucidate the interactions between the protein complexes in response to short-term changes in light intensity. The specific aims were to:

(i) improve the protein isolation and separation methods for investigation of thylakoid pigment-protein complexes and their interactions,

(ii) determine the supramolecular organization and hierarchical formation of photosynthetic protein super- and megacomplexes

(iii) dissect the influence of thylakoid protein phosphorylation on the interactions of individual protein complexes and on the overall organization of the protein complex network.

# 3. METHODOLOGY

### 3.1 Plant material and standard growth conditions

A small flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana* was used in the experiments. Arabidopsis is one of the most important model organisms used in plant biology and the first plant to have its complete genome sequence available (Arabidopsis Genome Initiative, 2000). Importantly, several mutant lines are publicly available making the plant ideal for studying protein functions. *Arabidopsis thaliana* ecotype Columbia wildtype (WT) as well as several mutant lines (see table 1) were grown in a mixture of soil and vermiculite (1:1) under a photon flux density of 120  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> in an 8 h light/16 h dark regime (Growth light, GL) at 23°C. OSRAM PowerStar HQIT 400/D Metal Halide Lamps served as a light source. Mature rosette leaves from 5- to 6-week-old plants were used for the experiments.

Mutant	Defective protein	Publication	Reference
stn7	STN7 kinase	I,II,III	Bellafiore et al., 2005
stn8	STN8 kinase	I,II,III	Bonardi et al., 2005; Vainonen et al., 2005
tap38	TAP38/PPH1 phosphatase	I.II,III	Pribil et al., 2010; Shapiguzov et al., 2010
psal	PsaL	III	Lunde et al 2000

**Table 1.** The Arabidopsis mutant lines used in this research. Description of the mutants can be found in the given references.

### 3.2 Light treatments, thylakoid isolation and chl determination

For specific experiments, the plants were treated with darkness, LL (20  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>) or HL (800-1000  $\mu$ mol photons m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup>) prior to membrane isolation (Publications I,II,III). The treatments with PSI and PSII specific lights (Publications I and II) were given as described in (Tikkanen et al., 2010). Thylakoid membranes from WT and the mutant lines were isolated from fresh leaf rosettes according to (Järvi et al., 2011). The chlorophyll content of the isolated thylakoids was determined according to (Porra et al., 1989).

### 3.3 Protein analysis with SDS-PAGE

Denaturating SDS-PAGE was used in all Publications for the analysis of thylakoid protein composition. Solubilized thylakoid proteins were separated on SDS-PAGE according to standard protocols described in Publications I-IV. Individual proteins were detected by Western blotting using protein or P-Thr specific antibodies (detailed

information of the used antibodies in the original Publications). The membranes were stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue (CBB) to ensure equal (chlorophyll-based) loading.

### 3.4 Analysis of native protein complexes

For the analysis of native protein complexes, weak non-ionic detergents were used to gently isolate the complexes from the membrane without destroying their native structure. The protein complex solubilization was done essentially as described in (Järvi et al., 2011).  $\beta$ -D-dodecyl maltoside ( $\beta$ -DM) was used in all Publications, digitonin (DIG) was used in Publications I, III and IV. The detergents were diluted in bis-tris buffer (BTH) in all Publications, but in Publication IV aminocaproic acid (ACA) was used with DIG in the solubilization buffer.

The solubilized protein complexes were supplemented with Coomassie G-250 dye, which introduces negative charge to the protein complexes, which were separated according to their molecular mass with large pore blue native gel electrophoresis (lpBN-PAGE) (Schägger and von Jagow, 1991; Wittig et al., 2006; Järvi et al., 2011). The distinct subunits were resolved with two-dimensional (2D)-SDS-PAGE according to Järvi et al., (2011). In Publication I, the individual proteins separated by 2D-SDS-PAGE, were identified with mass spectrometry. In Publication IV, a new 3D-gel-electrophoresis system (lpBN-lpBN-SDS-PAGE) was optimized for the analysis of the subcomplex composition of larger protein complexes (detailed description in the original Publication IV). The proteins were visualized with silver staining (Blum et al., 1987) or SYPRO® Ruby staining according to Invitrogen Molecular Probes™ instructions.

### 3.5 77K chl fluorescence measurements

To characterize the state of the photosynthetic machinery, a low-temperature (77K, -196°C) fluorescence emission spectrum was recorded. At this temperature, intact thylakoid membranes exhibit three major fluorescence peaks at F685, F695 (from PSII) and around F735 (from PSI). Disconnected LHCII antennas exhibit a strong fluorescence emission peak at 680 nm. The chlorophyll fluorescence spectra were recorded at 77K from intact thylakoids (Publications I, IV) and from supernatants after detergent-treatment (3  $\mu$ g chl/100  $\mu$ l storage buffer) (Publication IV) with an Ocean Optics S2000 spectrometer. Thylakoids were kept in liquid nitrogen and excited with blue light (480 nm wavelength). The fluorescence signal of intact thylakoids was normalized to 685 nm and that of the solubilized thylakoids to the PSI peak.

### 3.6 Transcript analysis

For the analysis of *TAP38* transcripts (Publication III) the cDNA was synthesized from purified RNA using iScript reverse transcriptase (Bio-Rad). RT-PCR reactions were performed with the BioRad IQ5 detection system using IQ SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad) containing a fluorescent dye to detect the accumulation of amplicons. UBIQUITIN 3 and PP2AA3 were used as internal controls. Data were analyzed by using QBASE PLUS software

### 4. OVERVIEW OF THE RESULTS

# 4.1 Photosynthetic protein megacomplexes and regulatory proteins in the non-appressed regions of the thylakoid membrane

The composition of photosynthetic protein complexes in non-appressed thylakoid regions was analyzed by using a gentle detergent DIG for its ability to solubilize exclusively these membrane regions (Publication I). The chl a/b ratio of the DIG-soluble fraction, being around 4, was lower than what would be expected from the pure stroma thylakoids, indicating that the fraction also contains the interphase of the grana core and stroma thylakoids, i.e. the grana margins (Publication I). In line with an earlier report by (Järvi et al., 2011), the analysis of protein complexes with lpBN-PAGE confirmed the presence of several high molecular mass protein megacomplexes in this region of the thylakoid membrane. The megacomplexes were particularly abundant with PSI but the largest protein complex also contained PSII. Proteomic analysis of the non-appressed thylakoid fraction revealed that besides the structural subunits of the photosynthetic machinery, several regulatory proteins including PsbS, CURT1A and CURT1B were present (Publication I).

# 4.2 Reversible LHCII phosphorylation and protein complex reorganization upon changes in light intensity

# *4.2.1 STN7-dependent LHCII phosphorylation regulates protein complex interactions*

To elucidate how LHCII phosphorylation affects the interactions of the protein complexes in the non-appressed thylakoid regions, mutant lines defective in thylakoid protein (de)phosphorylation were analyzed from growth light acclimated plants. Protein complex analysis with lpBN-PAGE revealed that in the absence of functional STN7 kinase, the inability to phosphorylate LHCII proteins greatly affected the protein complex pattern of the *stn7* mutant (Publication I). The *stn7* mutant was not only unable to accumulate the PSI-LHCII complex (Pesaresi et al., 2009), but also the larger protein complexes were qualitatively different when compared to growth light acclimated WT plants, which exhibited highly phosphorylated LHCII (Publication I). In WT, a large fraction of PSI was allocated to the largest protein megacomplex, which also contained PSII, whereas in the *stn7* mutant the complex was less abundant and instead, a large amount of PSI was found in smaller supercomplexes (Publication I). To validate that the

peculiar organization of the thylakoid protein complexes in the *stn7* mutant was linked to dephosphorylated LHCII, and not to other features of the mutant, the effect of lightquality induced LHCII (de)phosphorylation in WT plants was analyzed. Illumination with 'state 1' light resulted in complete LHCII dephosphorylation and was followed by protein complex rearrangement, which resembled that of the *stn7* mutant. On the contrary, upon 'state 2' light-induced LHCII phosphorylation, the protein complex organization was similar to that observed in growth light acclimated WT (Publication I). It is therefore highly conceivable that protein complex rearrangements are linked to the STN7-mediated phosphorylation of the LHCII proteins.

In order to elucidate the role of LHCII phosphorylation in the modification of protein complex interactions in response to natural fluctuations of white light, LHCII phosphorylation dynamics and the consequent alterations in protein complex organization was analyzed from WT plants exposed to different light intensities (Publication I). The LHCII proteins were almost completely dephosphorylated after a 16 h period in darkness, but a subsequent short-term treatment in low light resulted in maximal LHCII phosphorylation and a following shift to high light resulted again in LHCII dephosphorylation (Publication I). Importantly, the protein complex pattern in dark acclimated and high light treated plants, both exhibiting dephosphorylated LHCII, was similar to that observed in *stn7*. The pattern of the low light treated WT plants resembled that of the growth light acclimated WT. This implies that the changes in protein complex interactions in non-appressed membrane regions is affected by LHCII phosphorylation also under natural changes in white light intensity (Publication I).

### 4.2.2 Role and regulation of TAP38 phosphatase in high light

Upon exposure of plants to high light the PSII core proteins reach their maximal phosphorylation, whereas the LHCII proteins become concomitantly dephosphorylated (Rintamäki et al., 1997). To understand the functional significance of the opposite PSII-LHCII phosphorylation and the regulation of the LHCII phosphatase, WT plants and mutants lacking the LHCII phosphatase (*tap38*) or the LHCII docking site in PSI (*psal*) were analyzed (Publications II and III). The analysis of the *tap38* mutant demonstrated that in the absence of the TAP38 phosphatase, the LHCII proteins remained phosphorylated even upon exposure of plants to high light. Yet, the PSII core proteins were simultaneously maximally phosphorylated in the *tap38* mutant under high light. The resulting extensive phosphorylation of both the PSII core and the LHCII proteins is never observed in WT under high light. The 77K chl fluorescence spectra revealed that the coinciding PSII-LHCII phosphorylation in high light treated *tap38* resulted in a remarkable increase in the PSI absorption cross section, similar to that observed in WT upon illumination with an artificial 'state 2' light. In contrast, the shift of WT plants from low to high light induced only minimal changes in the relative excitation of the two

photosystems as a result of the LHCII dephosphorylation. These results provide compelling evidence that the phosphatase activity of TAP38 is needed in high light to maintain the excitation energy balance between the two photosystems (Publication II).

In Publication III it was demonstrated that the *psal* mutant, which completely lacks the LHCII docking site in PSI, is unable to accumulate TAP38 phosphatase. The marked down-regulation of the phosphatase did not take place at the transcriptional level, which implies that either the TAP38 transcripts are poorly translated or the TAP38 protein is easily degraded (Publication III). Since the TAP38 phosphatase is responsible for the dephosphorylation of pLHCII, which interacts with PSI, the PSI-LHCII complex was assumed to be an association partner for the phosphatase. The absence of the PSI-LHCII complex in *psal* thus might induce instability and higher degradation rate for the phosphatase. To reveal the possible association of TAP38 with the PSI-LHCII complex or with other photosynthetic protein complexes, the localization of the TAP38 phosphatase was studied. Two-dimensional lpBN-SDS-PAGE analysis revealed that under low light conditions, the majority of TAP38 is present as a free protein unbound to any of the large membrane protein complexes. Nevertheless, upon subsequent exposure to high light, a fraction of TAP38 was found associated with the PSII-LHCII-PSI complex and concomitantly the pool of free phosphatases decreased (Publication III). Thus, although the TAP38 phosphatase in WT is constitutively expressed, its activity or stability might be dependent on its dynamic localization and interaction with the megacomplex.

# 4.3 Optimized detergent-treatment allows one-step solubilization of labile thylakoid protein complexes

As described above, DIG is a superior detergent when analyzing labile membrane protein super- and megacomplexes in the non-appressed regions of the thylakoid membrane. Generally DIG is excluded from grana core, which is thus left insolubilized and remains in the pellet (Publication I). To dissect the labile protein complex network from the entire thylakoid membrane system, specific attempts were taken towards improving the solubilization capacity of the thylakoid membrane by DIG. Excellent progress was achieved when DIG was applied in the presence of ACA to solubilize the thylakoid membrane. Intriguingly, based on the chlorophyll content and the chl-a/b ratio of the solubilized membrane fraction, it was demonstrated that DIG/ACA solubilizes the entire thylakoid membrane without discrimination between different membrane subdomains (Publication IV). DIG/BTH treatment typically solubilizes only 40% of the total membrane protein complexes, whereas the DIG/ACA treatment resulted in the solubilization of more than 90% of the thylakoid membrane complexes. The chl a/b ratio

(Publication IV). It is suggested that ACA allows DIG to enter to the tightly appressed grana core. Importantly, recording the relative fluorescence of PSI and PSII by 77K chl fluorescence revealed that the addition of ACA does not lead to the randomization of the thylakoid protein complexes (Publication IV).

Several large protein super- and megacomplexes were obtained by lpBN-PAGE separation of the DIG/ACA solubilized thylakoids. The most abundant protein complexeses included the PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex, two C2S2M(2)supercomplexes, which co-migrated with PSI supercomplexes and finally, the PSI-LHCII complex. The protein complex patterns qualitatively resembled each other in DIG/ACA and DIG/BTH solubilized thylakoid samples. Nevertheless, the quantities of the individual complexes were different and provided an estimation of the sublocation of the protein complexes in the thylakoid membrane network. The two PSII-LHCII supercomplexes were considerably more abundant in the DIG/ACA treated thylakoid samples (Publication IV) than in the DIG/BTH samples that represents only the nonappressed membrane regions (Publication I). Thus, these supercomplexes likely reside in the grana core and represent large C2S2M(2) complexes (Publication IV). The PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex and the PSI-LHCII complex were abundant in the DIG/BTH solubilized thylakoid membranes thus providing evidence that these complexes are enriched in the non-appressed membrane regions (Publication I).

None of the isolated protein super- or megacomplexes contained the Cyt  $b_6f$  complex or ATPase, which co-migrated in the gel with the PSII dimer and PSII monomer, respectively (Publication II and IV). Since Cyt  $b_6f$  functionally interconnects the two photosystems and it is a crucial component of the electron transfer chain, it is probably located in the near proximity of the PSII-LHCII-PSI, although it does not appear to have physical interaction with the photosystems.

# 4.4 The role of LHCII in hierarchical formation of large protein complex assemblies

In Publication IV, I addressed the role of LHCII in the formation of large protein superand megacomplexes. Although detergents always disconnect a fraction of LHCII from the thylakoid membrane integrity, DIG was shown to preserve a substantial fraction of LHCII still connected to the photosystems when compared to the commonly used detergent  $\beta$ -DM (Publication IV) or  $\alpha$ -DM (unpublished). Importantly, the ability of DIG to preserve large protein super- and megacomplexes co-occurred with its ability to retain more LHCII bound to protein complexes as demonstrated by a relatively low fluorescence peak at 680 nm in the 77K chl fluorescence spectra, (Publication IV). To elucidate the role of LHCII in preserving the supramolecular structures, I applied a two-step solubilization of the protein complexes from the entire thylakoid membrane. The protein complexes were first solubilized with DIG/ACA and separated on lpBN-PAGE. Subsequently, the gel lane containing the DIG/ACA separated protein complexes was treated with  $\beta$ -DM and the subcomplexes were separated on an orthogonal 2D-lpBN-PAGE (Figure 5A). During the second lpBN-PAGE, a fraction of M-LHCII and L-LHCII disconnected from the large DIG/ACA-derived protein complexes. Concomitantly with the release of LHCII, (i) the large PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex disassembled into smaller PSII and PSI subcomplexes, (ii) C2S2M(2) supercomplexes broke down into smaller PSII complexes and PSI monomers were released from the PSI supercomplexes. Finally, (iii) PSI-LHCII, i.e. the 'state transition' complex was fractioned into PSI monomer and L-LHCII-trimer (Publication IV). The PSI complex, PSII dimer, ATPase, Cyt b<sub>6</sub>f and PSII monomer retained their masses during the second solubilization.

Based on the results described above, it is concluded that DIG/ACA solubilization preserves LHCII interconnection with the photosystems and allows the analysis of supramolecular protein complex assemblies whereas the subsequent solubilization of the DIG/ACA derived complexes with  $\beta$ -DM allows the dissection of the hierarchical interactions of protein subcomplexes (Publication IV).



**Figure 5.** The subcomplex composition and LHCII phosphorylation of DIG-derived protein complexes. (A) Thylakoid protein complexes solubilized with DIG/ACA were separated on 1D-lpBN-PAGE and subsequently re-solubilized by  $\beta$ -DM and subjected to a second lpBN-PAGE to separate the disconnected subcomplexes. The control lane represents  $\beta$ -DM solubilized thylakoid membranes. (B) Western blot analysis of the 2D-lpBN gels demonstrates the localization of the phosphorylated Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 proteins.

# 4.5 Role of differential Lhcb1/Lhcb2 protein phosphorylation in protein super- and megacomplexes

To elucidate the role of distinct LHCII protein phosphorylation for the protein complex organization, the location of P-Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 in different protein super- and megacomplexes was analyzed from the thylakoids of growth light acclimated plants by immunoblotting of 2D-lpBN-gels (Publication IV, Figure 5B). Intriguingly, Lhcb2 was found phosphorylated almost exclusively in the L-LHCII trimers, which were disconnected from the megacomplexes during the second solubilization with  $\beta$ -DM. Lhcb1, on the contrary, was highly phosphorylated in the PSII-LHCII supercomplexes.

### 5. **DISCUSSION**

The photosynthetic machinery is composed of pigment-protein complexes that work in series to convert solar energy into chemical energy. Function of the system requires highly organized and regulated network of the protein complexes. There has been great progress in resolving the structures of individual complexes, but the overall organization of the photosynthetic protein complexes has remained largely elusive. Comprehensive examination of the labile thylakoid protein complex networks in this thesis confirmed that the majority of both photosystems and LHCII hierarchically form large protein super- and megacomplexes. The organization of the PSII and LHCII proteins. In the following two sections, I examine the obtained results in light of the recent literature and aim at integrating the thylakoid regulatory processes with the dynamic re-arrangements of the photosynthetic protein complexes.

# 5.1 Building blocks of thylakoid protein super-and megacomplexes

Structural analysis of thylakoid protein complexes mainly rely on the use of non-ionic detergents, which isolate the complexes from the membrane integrity by dispersing and replacing membrane lipids associated with the hydrophobic parts of the protein complexes. Detergents, most commonly  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -DM, have been successfully used to obtain the structural details of photosynthetic protein complexes, such as the PSII-LHCII complexes (Hankamer et al., 1997; Boekema et al., 1999; Eshaghi et al., 1999; Caffarri et al., 2009) and the PSI-NDH-supercomplex (Kouřil et al., 2014). DM, however, is not well suited for the characterization of the overall organization of the complexes in the thylakoid membrane, since it efficiently disconnects LHCII from the thylakoid integrity. For the analysis of labile protein super-and megacomplexes (Publications I, IV) a neutral detergent, DIG, was used for its ability to maintain weak interactions between protein complexes (Schägger and Pfeiffer, 2000). In Publication I, DIG was successfully used for the analysis of large protein complexes in the non-appressed thylakoid regions, yet supplementing DIG with ACA in the solubilization buffer (Publication IV) allowed, for the first time, one-step dissection of labile protein complexes from the entire thylakoid membrane.

Comparison of the protein complex composition of the non-appressed membrane regions (Publication I) with that obtained from the entire thylakoid membrane (Publication IV), allowed a general estimation of the localization of the protein complexes. In accordance with several other reports (Boekema et al., 1999; Caffarri et al., 2009), the majority of

PSII was found allocated to C2S2M(2) supercomplexes that predominate the grana core. The PSII-LHCII supercomplexes have been further shown to form larger megacomplexes, which may also contain additional LHCII trimers (Nosek et al., 2017). PSI complexes, as expected, were found enriched in the non-appressed membrane regions (Publication I). While a great quantity of PSI is present as a monomer, probably located in the stroma exposed membranes, a considerable fraction of PSI was discovered to be allocated to larger protein super- and megacomplexes (Publication I and IV). PSI was not only found in the PSI-LHCII complex (previously described by Pesaresi et al., 2009), but also in two larger PSI supercomplexes that are of similar size as the two C2S2M(2) supercomplexes (Publication IV). These complexes are postulated to represent PSI multimers (Galka et al., 2012; Yadav et al., 2017), but whether these are artefacts or physiologically relevant complexes, remains to be elucidated. The supercomplexes might also represent larger PSI-LHCII complexes in which more than one copy of L-LHCII trimers is associated to a single PSI monomer. Such association of several L-LHCII trimers with PSI has recently been suggested in several reports (Bell et al., 2015; Benson et al., 2015; Bos et al., 2017). Importantly, a large fraction of PSI and PSII-LHCII together with L-LHCII was discovered to be integrated in a mutual megacomplex (Publications I and IV), in line with earlier observation by (Järvi et al., 2011; Yokono et al., 2015). Such a megacomplex likely resides in the grana margins, which has been shown to host both photosystems (Svensson and Albertsson, 1989; Albertsson et al., 1990). The exact structure and stoichiometry of the complex remains to be resolved, but the size of the complex has been estimated to be >2.6 MDa, and the PSII to PSI ratio within the complex to be 1:1 (Yokono et al., 2015; Yokono and Akimoto, 2018). There is no consensus in the field whether the PSII-LHCII-PSI complex has a functional role or whether it is an artefact. Traditionally the two photosystems have been considered to be strictly spatially segregated in the thylakoid membrane. However, lately several reports have suggested that the photosystems become interconnected in grana margins via mutual LHCII antenna "lake" (Grieco et al., 2015; Benson et al., 2015; Rantala and Tikkanen, 2018) and I suggest that the isolated PSII-LHCII-PSI complex originates from such network.

To better understand the interactions between individual protein complexes within larger super- and megacomplexes, I optimized a two-step solubilization of the thylakoid membrane using two different detergents, DIG/ACA and  $\beta$ -DM (Publication IV). The first solubilization step was performed with DIG/ACA, which solubilizes the entire thylakoid network and preserves the supramolecular protein complexes. The second solubilization step with  $\beta$ -DM was shown to disconnect all L-LHCII and a large fraction of M-LHCII from the photosystems (Figure 6). The disconnection of M-LHCII, as expected, affects the stability of the C2S2M2 supercomplexes, whereas the L-LHCII disconnection detaches all PSI complexes from the super- and megacomplexes.

Importantly, the L-LHCII disconnection co-occurred with the disassembly of the two photosystems from the PSII-LHCII-PSI complex. Although it is not possible to confirm that the disconnection of LHCII precedes the disassembly of the two photosystems, I suggest that L-LHCII plays an essential role in mediating the interaction between PSII-LHCII and PSI. It is noteworthy that the amount of L-LHCII bound to the PSII-LHCII-PSI complex was significantly higher when compared to the amount of L-LHCII bound to the 'state transition' complex. It is therefore conceivable that the L-LHCII trimer bound to PSI in the 'state transition'-complex comprises only a minor fraction of the total L-LHCII associated with the photosystems.



Figure 6. Schematic representation of the hierarchical formation of large thylakoid protein complexes via LHCII antenna. Detergents always remove a fraction of LHCII from the thylakoid integrity, yet DIG (upper panel) still preserves a large amount of LHCII interconnected with the photosystems. This is indicated by the preservation of the labile PSII-LHCII-PSI mc, C2S2M(2) sc. and PSI-LHCII sc. Unlike DIG,  $\beta$ -DM (lower panel), detaches all PS-bound L-LHCII, and the labile protein complexes dissociate during solubilization.  $\beta$ -DM further detaches some of the moderately bound M-LHCIIs from C2S2M2 complexes, thus producing smaller C2S2M/C2S2 supercomplexes and PSII dimer (C2). A fraction of PSII core monomer (C) and PSI are present as individual complexes after both detergent treatments.sc=supercomplex, mc=megacomplex. Modified from Publication IV

It is important to note that L-LHCII is only loosely connected to the photosystems and majority of the loosely bound LHCII is inevitably lost when detergents are used (Grieco et al., 2015). Even DIG detaches large amount of LHCII from the thylakoid integrity and the PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex, which we obtained with DIG, therefore represents only a fraction of a large network in which the two photosystems are interconnected by a mutual L-LHCII lake. The whole complexity of the intact protein complex network still remains to be elucidated. An alternative approach, which recognizes the importance of the native lipid environment of the membrane protein complexes, has been introduced. Small organic polymer, styrene maleic acid (SMA), has been successfully used to isolate membrane nanodiscs in which protein complexes are embedded (Knowles et al., 2009;

Lee et al., 2016). SMA was recently shown to preserve LHCII energetically connected to the photosystems (Bell et al., 2015; Bos et al., 2017), implying that the native lipid environment is crucial for keeping LHCII interconnected within the thylakoid protein network. Further research is required to obtain more insights into the protein-lipid-interactions and their influence on the interactions between the thylakoid protein complexes.

Although the detergent-based protein complex analysis exploited in my thesis does not allow the analysis of the entirely intact protein complex network, it provides novel insights into the hierarchical interactions of the protein complexes, which reflect the overall organization of the photosynthetic apparatus in the thylakoid membrane.

# 5.2 Phosphorylation-dependent dynamic interactions of the protein complexes

Hierarchical interactions of the thylakoid protein complexes, as discussed above, are dynamic and dependent on environmental cues, most importantly on the changes in light conditions. The quantity and quality of light does not only fluctuate on seasonal and diurnal scale, but plants have to cope with rapid changes taking place in a scale of seconds and minutes in order to maintain fluent photosynthesis (Colombo et al., 2016). The light-dependent thylakoid protein phosphorylation is an important regulatory mechanism that allows plants to cope with ever-changing light conditions. The phosphorylation of the light harvesting proteins (Lhcb1 and Lhcb2) and the PSII core proteins (D1,D2, CP43) are catalysed by two different kinases, the STN7 (Bellafiore et al., 2005) and the STN8 kinase (Vainonen et al., 2005), respectively. The dephosphorylation of the LHCII proteins is catalysed by the TAP38 phosphatase (Pribil et al., 2010; Shapiguzov et al., 2010) and the PSII core proteins by the PBCP phosphatase (Samol et al., 2012). The LHCII phosphorylation is known to modulate the interaction of LHCII with the two photosystems, whereas the PSII core phosphorylation facilitates the disassembly of the PSII-LHCII complexes during the PSII repair cycle (Rochaix, 2007; Pesaresi et al., 2011; Tikkanen et al., 2008b). In this thesis, the role of the protein phosphorylation-dependent regulatory processes in the thylakoid reorganization was assessed by studying both wild-type plants treated with different light intensities and mutant lines lacking the regulatory proteins. In the next paragraphs, I will consider the phosphorylation dynamics of LHCII and PSII proteins and the consequent reorganization of the thylakoid protein complexes, first upon shift from darkness to light, and then upon exposure to high light.

Upon shift from darkness to light, LHCII proteins become phosphorylated (Publication I) due to the activation of the STN7 kinase. Analysis of the localization of the pLhcb1 and pLhcb2 proteins from the entire thylakoid membrane revealed that Lhcb2

phosphorylation occurs almost exclusively in L-LHCII trimers, which are loosely bound to the protein super- and megacomplexes (Publication IV, Figure 5B). Recent reports have shown that the phosphorylation of the Lhcb2 protein is required for the formation of the PSI-LHCII complex and, more specifically, the phosphate group in the N-terminus of the Lhcb2 protein mediates the interaction of the L-LHCII trimer with the LHCII docking site in the PSI complex (Leoni et al., 2013; Pietrzykowska et al., 2014; Crepin and Caffarri, 2015; Longoni et al., 2015). In addition to the formation of an isolatable PSI-LHCII complex (Pesaresi et al., 2009), also the accumulation of the aforementioned PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex in the grana margins (section 5.1) is largely dependent on LHCII phosphorylation (Publication I). Upon complete LHCII dephosphorylation, as demonstrated by the stn7 mutant, the amount of the PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex is clearly reduced, whereas the amount of large PSI supercomplexes concomitantly increased. A similar interdependence of the megacomplex formation was observed upon light induced LHCII phosphorylation (Publication I). Therefore it seems conceivable that the L-LHCII phosphorylation, occurring mainly at the Lhcb2 protein, is required for the stability of the PSII-LHCII-PSI complex.

Different from the location of pLhcb2, pLhcb1 was shown to be located predominantly in PSII-LHCII supercomplexes (Figure 5B). This is in line with recent report, which further showed that the Lhcb1 phosphorylation takes place mainly in the S-LHCII, and mostly in PSII-LHCII supercomplexes that are located near to the grana margins (Crepin and Caffarri, 2015). Lhcb1 phosphorylation also plays a role in the balancing of excitation energy between the two photosystems but importantly, the LHCII phosphorylation in PSII-LHCII supercomplexes does not induce their disassembly (Wientjes et al., 2013b). Thus, the phosphorylated S- or M-LHCII trimers are not directly involved in the formation of PSI-LHCII complexes. Instead, the Lhcb1 phosphorylation has been suggested to have a structural role in mediating the L-LHCII-PSI interaction (Pietrzykowska et al., 2014). Several alterations in the thylakoid ultrastructure take place when plants are shifted from darkness to light. The grana diameter decreases and the amount of appressed stacks per grana become reduced, but simultaneously the total proportion of grana per chloroplast increases (Rozak et al., 2002; Anderson et al., 2012) and the vertical stacking in the grana margins is loosened (Chuartzman et al., 2008). These changes have been proposed to arise from LHCII phosphorylation (Anderson et al., 2012), but also PSII core phosphorylation affects the grana ultrastructure.

Based on the phosphorylation dynamics (Publication I) and on the location of phosphorylated Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 proteins in protein super- and megacomplexes (Publication IV), as well as on the recent literature, I suggest the following model for the dynamic organization of thylakoid protein complexes. (i) Phosphorylation of Lhcb1 in PSII-LHCII complexes (Publication IV) upon exposure of plants to light, increases the flexibility of the grana membranes and brings a fraction of the PSII-LHCII

supercomplexes towards the edges of the grana. The proportion of this region, the grana margins, increases upon shift from darkness to light (Rozak et al., 2002) and further, LHCII phosphorylation in the grana margins disturbs the attractive forces between the adjacent grana membrane layers, causing the layers to retract from each other (Chuartzman et al., 2008). (ii) Subsequent opening of the edges of the grana allows a larger fraction of PSI complexes to become into contact with the PSII-LHCII supercomplexes via L-LHCII trimers (Publication I and IV, Figure 7A). The L-LHCII trimers are highly phosphorylated at Lhcb2 protein and therefore efficiently transfer energy to PSI (Galka et al., 2012), thus allowing fluent electron transfer between the photosystems. In line with previous suggestions (Tikkanen et al., 2008a; Anderson et al., 2012), the phosphorylation-dependent balancing of the excitation energy distribution between PSII and PSI likely takes place in grana margins. Importantly, the protein complex rearrangements upon LHCII phosphorylation are much more profound than previously anticipated and it is conceivable that the re-organization concerns the entire protein complex network rather than only a minor pool of mobile LHCII antenna. Mutant that lacks the STN7 kinase, fail to accumulate the PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex and consequently exhibit smaller PSI supercomplexes (Figure 7B), being unable to allocate PSI to the megacomplex (Publication II).

Contradicting to the above described model, it has been suggested that the formation of the PSII-PSI megacomplex is not dependent on LHCII phosphorylation, and the megacomplex was proposed to be a high light adaptation (Yokono et al., 2015). While this possibility cannot be ruled out, the data presented in this thesis, clearly demonstrate the essential role of L-LHCII to the stability of the PSII-LHCII-PSI complex and the dependence of the complex on LHCII phosphorylation. Since LHCII phosphorylation regulates the proportions of PSII-LHCII and PSI complexes in a mutual megacomplex, it is conceivable that balancing the excitation energy distribution relies on the dynamic organization of the PSII and PSI complexes (Publication I)

It has to be noted that the presented model of dynamic re-organizations of the protein complexes in the thylakoid membrane (Figure 7A) is a simplified 2D model that does not take into account the whole complexity of the thylakoid ultrastructure. Extensive research on thylakoid folding is still required to truly understand the relationship between the biochemical data obtained by analysis of the protein complex organization and the dynamics of thylakoid ultrastructure.



**Figure 7.** The influence of Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 phosphorylation on the organization of the two photosystems in grana margins. (A) The Lhcb1 phosphorylation in PSII-LHCII supercomplexes increases the membrane flexibility (membrane retraction indicated with red arrows) in the edges of grana. The Lhcb2 phosphorylation, which occurs exclusively in L-LHCII is followed by the accumulation of PSII-LHCII-PSI complex and facilitates the fluent electron transfer between the two photosystems. The blue arrows indicate the affinity of L-LHCII towards PSI. (B) The *stn7* mutant exhibits dephosphorylated Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 proteins, and is unable to preserve PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplexes.

In Publications II and III, the role of TAP38 mediated LHCII dephosphorylation and the regulation of the phosphatase itself in high light, were addressed. Upon exposure to high light, plants exhibit a spectrum of responses in order to avoid damage caused by the excess of light. The PSII core proteins become maximally phosphorylated by the STN8 kinase and concomitantly, the LHCII proteins become dephosphorylated (Rintamäki et al., 1997; Tikkanen et al., 2010). The molecular mechanisms behind the inactivation and degradation of the STN7 kinase in high light have been studied extensively (Rintamäki et al., 2000; Willig et al., 2011; Wunder et al., 2013a; Trotta et al., 2016), whereas the role and regulation of the LHCII phosphatase, TAP38 in this process, have received less attention.

The analysis of the *tap38* mutant under high light revealed that TAP38 mediated LHCII dephosphorylation is required to avoid uncontrolled energy flow from LHCII to PSI. Indeed, the strong concomitant phosphorylation occurring simultaneously in the PSII

core and LHCII proteins, as demonstrated by the tap38 mutant under high light, is shown to result in a drastic increase of PSI absorption cross section, whereas in WT the LHCII dephosphorylation by TAP38 phosphatase ensures that the relative excitation of the two photosystems remains rather unchanged despite the shift of plants to high light (Publication II). The exact regulation of the TAP38 phosphatase itself is enigmatic. Nevertheless, in Publication III, I discovered that a pool of free phosphatases associate to the PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex in high light and I suggest that the transient interaction might affect the stability or regulation of TAP38. The exact role of the dynamic localization of the phosphatase in its function remains to be elucidated, but it is clear that the phosphatase activity is important in high light. It is conceivable that the LHCII dephosphorylation in high light is required because (i) the PSII core phosphorylation reaches a maximum and consequently induces vertical loosening of the grana appressions to allow fluent PSII repair cycle (Tikkanen et al., 2008b; Fristedt et al., 2009; Kirchhoff, 2013). (ii) This results in the partial randomization of the thylakoid protein complexes, and enhanced energy spill-over to PSI. In this context the TAP38mediated dephosphorylation of the LHCII proteins functions to prevent the overreduction of PSI in high light (Publication II).

### CONCLUSIONS

In this thesis I have demonstrated the hierarchical formation of large protein super- and megacomplexes, and elucidated the role of LHCII in preserving these assemblies. I further discovered that the dynamic reorganization of the photosynthetic protein superand megacomplexes upon shift from darkness to light is dependent on STN7 kinasemediated LHCII phosphorylation and likely occur mainly in structurally dynamic grana margins, which accommodate both photosystems and a mutual L-LHCII antenna system. Lhcb1 phosphorylation in PSII-LHCII supercomplexes likely increase the structural flexibility of the grana margins whereas Lhcb2 phosphorylation in L-LHCII facilitates fluent electron flow and maintains the redox balance of ETC. Upon increasing light intensity the TAP38 phosphatase, which is shown to become associated with the grana margin-located PSII-LHCII-PSI megacomplex, prevents uncontrolled energy flow to PSI complex by dephosphorylating the LHCII proteins.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was carried out in the Laboratory of Molecular Plant Biology at the University of Turku. Doctoral Programme in Molecular Life Sciences as well as Academy of Finland and Konkordia-liitto are greatly acknowledged for financial support. Great many people have helped and supported me during the past four years. First of all, I am grateful for having three outstanding scientists as supervisors. Academician Eva-Mari Aro I thank for providing me with the opportunity to join her inspiring group. Her endless curiosity and passion for science are truly motivating. Heartfelt thanks to Dr. Marjaana Suorsa who introduced me to the world of science and had the most fundamental role in my scientific development, I am deeply indebted for all the care and support she has provided me during the past years. I warmly thank Dr. Mikko Tikkanen for providing scientific advice and sharing ideas.

Prof. Eevi Rintamäki is thanked for offering guidance throughout my studies. I wish to thank Prof. Kurt Fagerstedt and Dr. Emilie Wientjes for critically reviewing my thesis and Prof. Stefano Caffarri for agreeing to be my opponent.

I am grateful to all my co-authors and collaborators for their invaluable contribution to the research. Especially I want to thank Sari, who has been there from the beginning, and Andrea for collaboration and scientific discussions. Additionally, huge thanks to all my former and present workmates for creating such a nice working environment. It has been a privilege to work with Vipu from whom I have learned so much. There are no words to describe how much her endless support and friendship means to me. Ville and Jyrki are greatly acknowledged for their indispensable work at the lab, and technical staff Eve, Anniina, Mika, Kurt and Tapio for technical support. Moona, Minna, Ninni, Markus, Sara, Martina A, Steffen and many others are thanked for scientific and nonscientific discussions and peer support. Special thanks is owed to Sanna for her friendship and for sharing the struggle and all the fun.

I am privileged to have so many incredible people in my life. Heartfelt thanks to all my extraordinary friends, especially Anna, Jussi, Johanna and Essi who have been there all along the way and with whom I have shared so much. I thank Saara for her friendship, our epic bird-weekends and for the amazing cover illustration she made for this book. Hanski is warmly thanked for her long-lasting friendship. I owe my deepest gratitude to my dear family, äiti, isä, Marttiina and Markus, for their endless support and for encouraging me to always do the things I feel passionate about. Finally, from all my heart, I want to thank Aiste for being by my side, I am grateful beyond words for your love and continuous encouragement.

Turku, May 2018

Hugane

#### REFERENCES

- Albertsson, P.-Å. (2001) A quantitative model of the domain structure of the photosynthetic membrane. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6, 349–354.
- Albertsson, P.-Å., Andreasson, E., Svensson, P. (1990) The domain organization of the plant thylakoid membrane. *FEBS Lett.* **273**, 36–40.
- Albertsson, P.-Å., Andreasson, E., Svensson, P., Yu, S.-G. (1991) Localization of cytochrome f in the thylakoid membrane: evidence for multiple domains. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1098, 90–94.
- Allen, J. F. (1992). How does protein phosphorylation regulate photosynthesis? *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 17:12–17.
- Allen, J. F., and Forsberg, J. (2001). Molecular recognition in thylakoid structure and function. *Trends Plant Sci.* 6:317–326.
- Amunts, A., Drory, O., and Nelson, N. (2007). The structure of a plant photosystem I supercomplex at 3.4 Å resolution. *Nature* 447:58.
- Anderson, J. M. (1982). Distribution of the cytochromes of spinach chloroplasts between the appressed membranes of grana stacks and stroma-exposed thylakoid regions. *FEBS Lett.* 138:62–66.
- Anderson, J. M. (1986). Photoregulation of the Composition, Function, and Structure of Thylakoid Membranes. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. 37:93–136.
- Anderson, J. M., Horton, P., Kim, E.-H., and Chow, W. S. (2012). Towards elucidation of dynamic structural changes of plant thylakoid architecture. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 367:3515–3524.
- Andersson, B., and Anderson, J. M. (1980). Lateral heterogeneity in the distribution of chlorophyll-protein complexes of the thylakoid membranes of spinach chloroplasts. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 593:427–440.
- Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000). Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant Arabidopsis thaliana. *Nature* **408**:796–815.
- Armbruster, U., Labs, M., Pribil, M., Viola, S., Xu, W., Scharfenberg, M., Hertle, A. P., Rojahn, U., Jensen, P. E., Rappaport, F., et al. (2013). Arabidopsis CURVATURE THYLAKOID1 Proteins Modify Thylakoid Architecture by Inducing Membrane Curvature. *Plant Cell* 25:2661–2678.
- Aro, E.-M., Virgin, I., and Andersson, B. (1993). Photoinhibition of Photosystem II. Inactivation, protein damage and turnover. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1143:113–134.
- Aro, E.-M., Suorsa, M., Rokka, A., Allahverdiyeva, Y., Paakkarinen, V., Saleem, A., Battchikova, N., and Rintamäki, E. (2005). Dynamics of photosystem II: a proteomic approach to thylakoid protein complexes. J. Exp. Bot. 56:347–356.
- Arvidsson, P.-O., and Sundby, C. (1999). A model for the topology of the chloroplast thylakoid membrane. *Funct. Plant Biol.* 26:687–694.

- Ballottari, M., Govoni, C., Caffarri, S., and Morosinotto, T. (2004). Stoichiometry of LHCI antenna polypeptides and characterization of gap and linker pigments in higher plants Photosystem I. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 271:4659–4665.
- **Barber**, J. (1980). An explanation for the relationship between salt-induced thylakoid stacking and the chlorophyll fluorescence changes associated with changes in spillover of energy from photosystem II to photosystem I. *FEBS Lett.* **118**:1–10.
- Bell, A. J., Frankel, L. K., and Bricker, T. M. (2015). High Yield Non-detergent Isolation of Photosystem I-Light-harvesting Chlorophyll II Membranes from Spinach Thylakoids implications for the organization of the PSI antennae in higher plants. J. Biol. Chem. 290:18429–18437.
- Bellafiore, S., Barneche, F., Peltier, G., and Rochaix, J.-D. (2005). State transitions and light adaptation require chloroplast thylakoid protein kinase STN7. *Nature* **433**:892.
- Bennett, J. (1977). Phosphorylation of chloroplast membrane polypeptides. Nature 269:344.
- Bennett, J., Steinback, K. E., and Arntzen, C. J. (1980). Chloroplast phosphoproteins: regulation of excitation energy transfer by phosphorylation of thylakoid membrane polypeptides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 77:5253–5257.
- Bennett, J. (1991). Protein Phosphorylation in Green Plant Chloroplasts. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 42:281–311.
- Benson, S. L., Maheswaran, P., Ware, M. A., Hunter, C. N., Horton, P., Jansson, S., Ruban, A. V., and Johnson, M. P. (2015). An intact light harvesting complex I antenna system is required for complete state transitions in Arabidopsis. *Nat. Plants*, 1, 15176.
- Bezouwen, L. S. van, Caffarri, S., Kale, R. S., Kouřil, R., Thunnissen, A.-M. W. H., Oostergetel, G. T., and Boekema, E. J. (2017). Subunit and chlorophyll organization of the plant photosystem II supercomplex. *Nat. Plants* 3:17080.
- Blum, H., Beier, H., and Gross, H. J. (1987). Improved silver staining of plant proteins, RNA and DNA in polyacrylamide gels. *ELECTROPHORESIS* **8**:93–99.
- Boekema, E. J., van Roon, H., Calkoen, F., Bassi, R., and Dekker, J. P. (1999). Multiple Types of Association of Photosystem II and Its Light-Harvesting Antenna in Partially Solubilized Photosystem II Membranes. *Biochemistry* 38: 2233–2239.
- Bonardi, V., Pesaresi, P., Becker, T., Schleiff, E., Wagner, R., Pfannschmidt, T., Jahns, P., and Leister, D. (2005). Photosystem II core phosphorylation and photosynthetic acclimation require two different protein kinases. *Nature* **437**:1179.
- Bos, I., Bland, K. M., Tian, L., Croce, R., Frankel, L. K., van Amerongen, H., Bricker, T. M., and Wientjes, E. (2017). Multiple LHCII antennae can transfer energy efficiently to a single Photosystem I. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg.* 1858:371–378.
- Brangeon, J., and Mustardy, L. (1979). Ontogenetic assembly of intra-chloroplastic lamellae viewed in 3-dimension. *Biol Cellul.* 36:71–780.
- Caffarri, S., Kouřil, R., Kereïche, S., Boekema, E. J., and Croce, R. (2009). Functional architecture of higher plant photosystem II supercomplexes. *EMBO J.* 28:3052–3063.
- Chuartzman, S. G., Nevo, R., Shimoni, E., Charuvi, D., Kiss, V., Ohad, I., Brumfeld, V., and Reich, Z. (2008). Thylakoid Membrane Remodeling during State Transitions in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 20:1029–1039.

- Colombo, M., Suorsa, M., Rossi, F., Ferrari, R., Tadini, L., Barbato, R., and Pesaresi, P. (2016). Photosynthesis Control: An underrated short-term regulatory mechanism essential for plant viability. *Plant Signal. Behav.* **11**:e1165382.
- Crepin, A., and Caffarri, S. (2015). The specific localizations of phosphorylated Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 isoforms reveal the role of Lhcb2 in the formation of the PSI-LHCII supercomplex in Arabidopsis during state transitions. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg.* 1847:1539–1548.
- Crepin, A., Santabarbara, S., and Caffarri, S. (2016). Biochemical and Spectroscopic Characterization of Highly Stable Photosystem II Supercomplexes from Arabidopsis. J. Biol. Chem. 291:19157–19171.
- DalCorso, G., Pesaresi, P., Masiero, S., Aseeva, E., Schünemann, D., Finazzi, G., Joliot, P., Barbato, R., and Leister, D. (2008). A Complex Containing PGRL1 and PGR5 Is Involved in the Switch between Linear and Cyclic Electron Flow in Arabidopsis. *Cell* 132:273–285.
- Daum, B., Nicastro, D., Austin, J., McIntosh, J. R., and Kühlbrandt, W. (2010). Arrangement of Photosystem II and ATP Synthase in Chloroplast Membranes of Spinach and Pea. *Plant Cell* 22:1299–1312.
- Dekker, J. P., and Boekema, E. J. (2005). Supramolecular organization of thylakoid membrane proteins in green plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg.* 1706:12–39.
- Demmig-Adams, and Adams, I. (1992). Photoprotection and Other Responses of Plants to High Light Stress. Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol. 43:599–626.
- Eshaghi, S., Andersson, B., and Barber, J. (1999). Isolation of a highly active PSII-LHCII supercomplex from thylakoid membranes by a direct method. *FEBS Lett.* **446**:23–26.
- Fristedt, R., Willig, A., Granath, P., Crèvecoeur, M., Rochaix, J.-D., and Vener, A. V. (2009). Phosphorylation of Photosystem II Controls Functional Macroscopic Folding of Photosynthetic Membranes in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 21:3950–3964.
- Galka, P., Santabarbara, S., Khuong, T. T. H., Degand, H., Morsomme, P., Jennings, R. C., Boekema, E. J., and Caffarri, S. (2012). Functional Analyses of the Plant Photosystem I–Light-Harvesting Complex II Supercomplex Reveal That Light-Harvesting Complex II Loosely Bound to Photosystem II Is a Very Efficient Antenna for Photosystem I in State II. *Plant Cell* 24:2963–2978.
- Grieco, M., Suorsa, M., Jajoo, A., Tikkanen, M., and Aro, E.-M. (2015). Light-harvesting II antenna trimers connect energetically the entire photosynthetic machinery including both photosystems II and I. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg.* 1847:607–619.
- Hankamer, B., Nield, J., Zheleva, D., Boekema, E., Jansson, S., and Barber, J. (1997). Isolation and Biochemical Characterization of Monomeric and Dimeric Photosystem II Complexes from Spinach and Their Relevance to the Organisation of Photosystem II In vivo. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 243:422–429.
- Herbstová, M., Tietz, S., Kinzel, C., Turkina, M. V., and Kirchhoff, H. (2012). Architectural switch in plant photosynthetic membranes induced by light stress. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 109:20130–20135.
- Huang, D., Everly, R. M., Cheng, R. H., Heymann, J. B., Schägger, H., Sled, V., Ohnishi, T., Baker, T. S., and Cramer, W. A. (1994). Characterization of the chloroplast

cytochrome b6f complex as a structural and functional dimer. *Biochemistry (Mosc.)* **33**:4401–4409.

- Ikeuchi, M., and Inoue, Y. (1988). A new photosystem II reaction center component (4.8 kDa protein) encoded by chloroplast genome. *FEBS Lett.* **241**:99–104.
- Jahns, P., and Holzwarth, A. R. (2012). The role of the xanthophyll cycle and of lutein in photoprotection of photosystem II. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg.* 1817:182–193.
- Jansson, S. (1999). A guide to the Lhc genes and their relatives in Arabidopsis. Trends Plant Sci. 4:236–240.
- Järvi, S., Suorsa, M., Paakkarinen, V., and Aro, E.-M. (2011). Optimized native gel systems for separation of thylakoid protein complexes: novel super- and mega-complexes. *Biochem. J.* 439:207–214.
- Järvi, S., Suorsa, M., and Aro, E.-M. (2015). Photosystem II repair in plant chloroplasts Regulation, assisting proteins and shared components with photosystem II biogenesis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1847:900–909.
- Khatoon, M., Inagawa, K., Pospísil, P., Yamashita, A., Yoshioka, M., Lundin, B., Horie, J., Morita, N., Jajoo, A., Yamamoto, Y., et al. (2009). Quality control of photosystem II: Thylakoid unstacking is necessary to avoid further damage to the D1 protein and to facilitate D1 degradation under light stress in spinach thylakoids. J. Biol. Chem. 284:25343–25352.
- Kirchhoff, H. (2013). Architectural switches in plant thylakoid membranes. *Photosynth. Res.* 116:481–487.
- Kirchhoff, H., Mukherjee, U., and Galla, H.-J. (2002). Molecular Architecture of the Thylakoid Membrane: Lipid Diffusion Space for Plastoquinone. *Biochemistry (Mosc.)* 41:4872–4882.
- Kirchhoff, H., Haase, W., Wegner, S., Danielsson, R., Ackermann, R., and Albertsson, P.-A. (2007). Low-Light-Induced Formation of Semicrystalline Photosystem II Arrays in Higher Plant Chloroplasts. *Biochemistry (Mosc.)* 46:11169–11176.
- Kirchhoff, H., Li, M., and Puthiyaveetil, S. (2017). Sublocalization of Cytochrome b6f Complexes in Photosynthetic Membranes. *Trends Plant Sci.* 22:574–582.
- Knowles, T. J., Finka, R., Smith, C., Lin, Y.-P., Dafforn, T., and Overduin, M. (2009). Membrane Proteins Solubilized Intact in Lipid Containing Nanoparticles Bounded by Styrene Maleic Acid Copolymer. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 131:7484–7485.
- Kouřil, R., Dekker, J. P., and Boekema, E. J. (2012). Supramolecular organization of photosystem II in green plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg.* 1817:2–12.
- Kouřil, R., Wientjes, E., Bultema, J. B., Croce, R., and Boekema, E. J. (2013). High-light vs. low-light: Effect of light acclimation on photosystem II composition and organization in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA Bioenerg.* **1827**:411–419.
- Kouřil, R., Strouhal, O., Nosek, L., Lenobel, R., Chamrád, I., Boekema, E. J., Šebela, M., and Ilík, P. (2014). Structural characterization of a plant photosystem I and NAD(P)H dehydrogenase supercomplex. *Plant J.* 77:568–576.

- Kouřil, R., Nosek, L., Bartoš, J., Boekema, E. J., and Ilík, P. (2016). Evolutionary loss of light-harvesting proteins Lhcb6 and Lhcb3 in major land plant groups--break-up of current dogma. *New Phytol.* 210:808–814.
- Kügler, M., Jänsch, L., Kruft, V., Schmitz, U. K., and Braun, H.-P. (1997). Analysis of the chloroplast protein complexes by blue-native polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (BN-PAGE). *Photosynth. Res.* 53:35–44.
- Kühlbrandt, W., and Wang, D. N. (1991). Three-dimensional structure of plant light-harvesting complex determined by electron crystallography. *Nature* **350**:130.
- Kühlbrandt, W., Wang, D. N., and Fujiyoshi, Y. (1994). Atomic model of plant lightharvesting complex by electron crystallography. *Nature* **367**:614–621.
- Kurisu, G., Zhang, H., Smith, J. L., and Cramer, W. A. (2003). Structure of the Cytochrome b6f Complex of Oxygenic Photosynthesis: Tuning the Cavity. *Science* **302**:1009–1014.
- Lee, S. C., Knowles, T. J., Postis, V. L. G., Jamshad, M., Parslow, R. A., Lin, Y., Goldman, A., Sridhar, P., Overduin, M., Muench, S. P., et al. (2016). A method for detergentfree isolation of membrane proteins in their local lipid environment. *Nat. Protoc.* 11:1149.
- Leoni, C., Pietrzykowska, M., Kiss, A. Z., Suorsa, M., Ceci, L. R., Aro, E.-M., and Jansson, S. (2013). Very rapid phosphorylation kinetics suggest a unique role for Lhcb2 during state transitions in Arabidopsis. *Plant J. Cell Mol. Biol.* 76:236–246.
- Li, X.-P., Björkman, O., Shih, C., Grossman, A. R., Rosenquist, M., Jansson, S., and Niyogi, K. K. (2000). A pigment-binding protein essential for regulation of photosynthetic light harvesting. *Nature* 403:391.
- Liu, Z., Yan, H., Wang, K., Kuang, T., Zhang, J., Gui, L., An, X., and Chang, W. (2004). Crystal structure of spinach major light-harvesting complex at 2.72 A resolution. *Nature* 428:287–292.
- Longoni, P., Douchi, D., Cariti, F., Fucile, G., and Goldschmidt-Clermont, M. (2015). Phosphorylation of the Light-Harvesting Complex II Isoform Lhcb2 Is Central to State Transitions. *Plant Physiol.* 169:2874–2883.
- Lunde, C., Jensen, P. E., Haldrup, A., Knoetzel, J., and Scheller, H. V. (2000). The PSI-H subunit of photosystem I is essential for state transitions in plant photosynthesis. *Nature* **408**:613–615.
- Mazor, Y., Borovikova, A., and Nelson, N. (2015). The structure of plant photosystem I supercomplex at 2.8 Å resolution. *eLife* 4:e07433.
- Müller, P., Li, X.-P., and Niyogi, K. K. (2001). Non-Photochemical Quenching. A Response to Excess Light Energy. *Plant Physiol.* 125:1558–1566.
- Munekage, Y., Hojo, M., Meurer, J., Endo, T., Tasaka, M., and Shikanai, T. (2002). PGR5 is involved in cyclic electron flow around photosystem I and is essential for photoprotection in Arabidopsis. *Cell* **110**:361–371.
- Murata, N. (1969). Control of excitation transfer in photosynthesis. II. Magnesium iondependent distribution of excitation energy between two pigment systems in spinach chloroplasts. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 189:171–181.

- Mustárdy, L., and Garab, G. (2003). Granum revisited. A three-dimensional model where things fall into place. *Trends Plant Sci.* 8:117–122.
- Nanba, O., and Satoh, K. (1987). Isolation of a photosystem II reaction center consisting of D-1 and D-2 polypeptides and cytochrome b-559. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 84:109–112.
- Nevo, R., Charuvi, D., Tsabari, O., and Reich, Z. (2012). Composition, architecture and dynamics of the photosynthetic apparatus in higher plants. *Plant J. Cell Mol. Biol.* 70:157–176.
- Niyogi, K. K., Grossman, A. R., and Björkman, O. (1998). Arabidopsis Mutants Define a Central Role for the Xanthophyll Cycle in the Regulation of Photosynthetic Energy Conversion. *Plant Cell* 10:1121–1134.
- Nosek, L., Semchonok, D., Boekema, E. J., Ilík, P., and Kouřil, R. (2017). Structural variability of plant photosystem II megacomplexes in thylakoid membranes. *Plant J.* **89**:104–111.
- Paolillo, D. J. (1970). The Three-Dimensional Arrangement of Intergranal Lamellae in Chloroplasts. J. Cell Sci. 6:243–253.
- Peng, L., Shimizu, H., and Shikanai, T. (2008). The chloroplast NAD(P)H dehydrogenase complex interacts with photosystem I in Arabidopsis. J. Biol. Chem. 283:34873–34879.
- Peng, L., Fukao, Y., Fujiwara, M., Takami, T., and Shikanai, T. (2009). Efficient Operation of NAD(P)H Dehydrogenase Requires Supercomplex Formation with Photosystem I via Minor LHCI in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 21:3623–3640.
- Pesaresi, P., Hertle, A., Pribil, M., Kleine, T., Wagner, R., Strissel, H., Ihnatowicz, A., Bonardi, V., Scharfenberg, M., Schneider, A., et al. (2009). Arabidopsis STN7 Kinase Provides a Link between Short- and Long-Term Photosynthetic Acclimation. *Plant Cell* 21:2402–2423.
- Pesaresi, P., Pribil, M., Wunder, T., and Leister, D. (2011). Dynamics of reversible protein phosphorylation in thylakoids of flowering plants: the roles of STN7, STN8 and TAP38. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1807:887–896.
- Pietrzykowska, M., Suorsa, M., Semchonok, D. A., Tikkanen, M., Boekema, E. J., Aro, E.-M., and Jansson, S. (2014). The Light-Harvesting Chlorophyll a/b Binding Proteins Lhcb1 and Lhcb2 Play Complementary Roles during State Transitions in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 26:3646–3660.
- Plöchinger, M., Torabi, S., Rantala, M., Tikkanen, M., Suorsa, M., Jensen, P.-E., Aro, E. M., and Meurer, J. (2016). The Low Molecular Weight Protein PsaI Stabilizes the Light-Harvesting Complex II Docking Site of Photosystem I1. *Plant Physiol.* 172:450– 463.
- Porra, R. J., Thompson, W. A., and Kriedemann, P. E. (1989). Determination of accurate extinction coefficients and simultaneous equations for assaying chlorophylls a and b extracted with four different solvents: verification of the concentration of chlorophyll standards by atomic absorption spectroscopy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 975:384–394.
- Pribil, M., Pesaresi, P., Hertle, A., Barbato, R., and Leister, D. (2010). Role of plastid protein phosphatase TAP38 in LHCII dephosphorylation and thylakoid electron flow. *PLoS Biol.* 8:e1000288.

- Rantala, S., and Tikkanen, M. (2018). Phosphorylation-induced lateral rearrangements of thylakoid protein complexes upon light acclimation. *Plant Direct* 2:1-12.
- Reiland, S., Messerli, G., Baerenfaller, K., Gerrits, B., Endler, A., Grossmann, J., Gruissem, W., and Baginsky, S. (2009). Large-scale Arabidopsis phosphoproteome profiling reveals novel chloroplast kinase substrates and phosphorylation networks. *Plant Physiol.* 150:889–903.
- Rintamäki, E., Kettunen, R., and Aro, E.-M. (1996). Differential D1 Dephosphorylation in Functional and Photodamaged Photosystem II Centers dephosphorylation is a prerequisite for degradation of damaged D1. J. Biol. Chem. 271:14870–14875.
- Rintamäki, E., Salonen, M., Suoranta, U. M., Carlberg, I., Andersson, B., and Aro, E. M. (1997). Phosphorylation of light-harvesting complex II and photosystem II core proteins shows different irradiance-dependent regulation in vivo. Application of phosphothreonine antibodies to analysis of thylakoid phosphoproteins. J. Biol. Chem. 272:30476–30482.
- Rintamäki, E., Martinsuo, P., Pursiheimo, S., and Aro, E.-M. (2000). Cooperative regulation of light-harvesting complex II phosphorylation via the plastoquinol and ferredoxin-thioredoxin system in chloroplasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 97:11644–11649.
- Rochaix, J.-D. (2007). Role of thylakoid protein kinases in photosynthetic acclimation. *FEBS Lett.* 581:2768–2775.
- Rozak, P. R., Seiser, R. M., Wacholtz, W. F., and Wise, R. R. (2002). Rapid, reversible alterations in spinach thylakoid appression upon changes in light intensity. *Plant Cell Environ.* 25:421–429.
- Ruban, A. V., and Johnson, M. P. (2015). Visualizing the dynamic structure of the plant photosynthetic membrane. *Nat. Plants* 1:15161.
- Samol, I., Shapiguzov, A., Ingelsson, B., Fucile, G., Crèvecoeur, M., Vener, A. V., Rochaix, J.-D., and Goldschmidt-Clermont, M. (2012). Identification of a Photosystem II Phosphatase Involved in Light Acclimation in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 24:2596–2609.
- Schägger, H., and Pfeiffer, K. (2000). Supercomplexes in the respiratory chains of yeast and mammalian mitochondria. *EMBO J.* **19**:1777–1783.
- Schägger, H., and von Jagow, G. (1991). Blue native electrophoresis for isolation of membrane protein complexes in enzymatically active form. *Anal. Biochem.* 199:223–231.
- Shapiguzov, A., Ingelsson, B., Samol, I., Andres, C., Kessler, F., Rochaix, J.-D., Vener, A. V., and Goldschmidt-Clermont, M. (2010). The PPH1 phosphatase is specifically involved in LHCII dephosphorylation and state transitions in Arabidopsis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 107:4782–4787.
- Shimoni, E., Rav-Hon, O., Ohad, I., Brumfeld, V., and Reich, Z. (2005). Three-Dimensional Organization of Higher-Plant Chloroplast Thylakoid Membranes Revealed by Electron Tomography. *Plant Cell* 17:2580–2586.
- Standfuss, J., Terwisscha van Scheltinga, A. C., Lamborghini, M., and Kühlbrandt, W. (2005). Mechanisms of photoprotection and nonphotochemical quenching in pea lightharvesting complex at 2.5 A resolution. *EMBO J.* 24:919–928.

- Su, X., Ma, J., Wei, X., Cao, P., Zhu, D., Chang, W., Liu, Z., Zhang, X., and Li, M. (2017). Structure and assembly mechanism of plant C2S2M2-type PSII-LHCII supercomplex. *Science* 357:815–820.
- Suorsa, M., Järvi, S., Grieco, M., Nurmi, M., Pietrzykowska, M., Rantala, M., Kangasjärvi, S., Paakkarinen, V., Tikkanen, M., Jansson, S., et al. (2012). PROTON GRADIENT REGULATION5 Is Essential for Proper Acclimation of Arabidopsis Photosystem I to Naturally and Artificially Fluctuating Light Conditions. *Plant Cell* 24:2934–2948.
- Suorsa, M., Rantala, M., Danielsson, R., Järvi, S., Paakkarinen, V., Schröder, W. P., Styring, S., Mamedov, F., and Aro, E.-M. (2014). Dark-adapted spinach thylakoid protein heterogeneity offers insights into the photosystem II repair cycle. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1837:1463–1471.
- Svensson, P., and Albertsson, P.-Å. (1989). Preparation of highly enriched photosystem II membrane vesicles by a non-detergent method. *Photosynth. Res.* 20:249–259.
- Sznee, K., Dekker, J. P., Dame, R. T., Roon, H. van, Wuite, G. J. L., and Frese, R. N. (2011). Jumping Mode Atomic Force Microscopy on Grana Membranes from Spinach. J. Biol. Chem. 286:39164–39171.
- Tikkanen, M., Piippo, M., Suorsa, M., Järvi, S., Mulo, P., Vainonen, J., Vener, A., Allahverdiyeva Y., and Aro, EM. (2006). State transitions revisited—a buffering system for dynamic low light acclimation of Arabidopsis. *Plant Mol. Biol.* **62**:779.
- Tikkanen, M., Nurmi, M., Suorsa, M., Danielsson, R., Mamedov, F., Styring, S., and Aro, E.-M. (2008a). Phosphorylation-dependent regulation of excitation energy distribution between the two photosystems in higher plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1777:425–432.
- Tikkanen, M., Nurmi, M., Kangasjärvi, S., and Aro, E.-M. (2008b). Core protein phosphorylation facilitates the repair of photodamaged photosystem II at high light. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1777:1432–1437.
- Tikkanen, M., Grieco, M., Kangasjärvi, S., and Aro, E.-M. (2010). Thylakoid Protein Phosphorylation in Higher Plant Chloroplasts Optimizes Electron Transfer under Fluctuating Light. *Plant Physiol.* **152**:723–735.
- Tikkanen, M., Grieco, M., Nurmi, M., Rantala, M., Suorsa, M., and Aro, E.-M. (2012). Regulation of the photosynthetic apparatus under fluctuating growth light. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **367**:3486–3493.
- Trotta, A., Suorsa, M., Rantala, M., Lundin, B., and Aro, E.-M. (2016). Serine and threonine residues of plant STN7 kinase are differentially phosphorylated upon changing light conditions and specifically influence the activity and stability of the kinase. *Plant J.* 87:484–494.
- Vainonen, J. P., Hansson, M., and Vener, A. V. (2005). STN8 Protein Kinase in Arabidopsis thaliana Is Specific in Phosphorylation of Photosystem II Core Proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 280:33679–33686.
- Vener, A. V., van Kan, P. J. M., Rich, P. R., Ohad, I., and Andersson, B. (1997). Plastoquinol at the quinol oxidation site of reduced cytochrome *bf* mediates signal transduction between light and protein phosphorylation: Thylakoid protein kinase deactivation by a single-turnover flash. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 94:1585–1590.

- Wei, X., Guo, J., Li, M., and Liu, Z. (2015). Structural Mechanism Underlying the Specific Recognition between the Arabidopsis State-Transition Phosphatase TAP38/PPH1 and Phosphorylated Light-Harvesting Complex Protein Lhcb1. *Plant Cell* 27:1113–1127.
- Wei, X., Su, X., Cao, P., Liu, X., Chang, W., Li, M., Zhang, X., and Liu, Z. (2016). Structure of spinach photosystem II–LHCII supercomplex at 3.2 Å resolution. *Nature* **534**:69.
- Wientjes, E., and Croce, R. (2011). The light-harvesting complexes of higher-plant Photosystem I: Lhca1/4 and Lhca2/3 form two red-emitting heterodimers. *Biochem. J.* 433:477–485.
- Wientjes, E., van Amerongen, H., and Croce, R. (2013a). LHCII is an antenna of both photosystems after long-term acclimation. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1827:420–426.
- Wientjes, E., Drop, B., Kouřil, R., Boekema, E. J., and Croce, R. (2013b). During State 1 to State 2 Transition in Arabidopsis thaliana, the Photosystem II Supercomplex Gets Phosphorylated but Does Not Disassemble. J. Biol. Chem. 288:32821–32826.
- Willig, A., Shapiguzov, A., Goldschmidt-Clermont, M., and Rochaix, J.-D. (2011). The Phosphorylation Status of the Chloroplast Protein Kinase STN7 of Arabidopsis Affects Its Turnover. *Plant Physiol.* **157**:2102–2107.
- Wittig, I., Braun, H.-P., and Schägger, H. (2006). Blue native PAGE. Nat. Protoc. 1:418.
- Wollenberger, L., Stefansson, H., Yu, S.-G., and Albertsson, P.-Å. (1994). Isolation and characterization of vesicles originating from the chloroplast grana margins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1184:93–102.
- Wunder, T., Liu, Q., Aseeva, E., Bonardi, V., Leister, D., and Pribil, M. (2013a). Control of STN7 transcript abundance and transient STN7 dimerisation are involved in the regulation of STN7 activity. *Planta* 237:541–558.
- Wunder, T., Xu, W., Liu, Q., Wanner, G., Leister, D., and Pribil, M. (2013b). The major thylakoid protein kinases STN7 and STN8 revisited: effects of altered STN8 levels and regulatory specificities of the STN kinases. *Front. Plant Sci.* 4.
- Yadav, K. N. S., Semchonok, D. A., Nosek, L., Kouřil, R., Fucile, G., Boekema, E. J., and Eichacker, L. A. (2017). Supercomplexes of plant photosystem I with cytochrome b<sub>6</sub>f, light-harvesting complex II and NDH. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1858:12–20.
- Yamori, W., and Shikanai, T. (2016). Physiological Functions of Cyclic Electron Transport Around Photosystem I in Sustaining Photosynthesis and Plant Growth. Annu. Rev. Plant Biol. 67:81–106.
- Yokono, M., and Akimoto, S. (2018). Energy transfer and distribution in photosystem super/megacomplexes of plants. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 54:50–56.
- Yokono, M., Takabayashi, A., Akimoto, S., and Tanaka, A. (2015). A megacomplex composed of both photosystem reaction centres in higher plants. *Nat. Commun.* **6**:6675.
- Yokoyama, R., Yamamoto, H., Kondo, M., Takeda, S., Ifuku, K., Fukao, Y., Kamei, Y., Nishimura, M., and Shikanai, T. (2016). Grana-Localized Proteins, RIQ1 and RIQ2, Affect the Organization of Light-Harvesting Complex II and Grana Stacking in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* 28:2261–2275.



Turun yliopisto University of Turku

ISBN 978-951-29-7264-7 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-7265-4 (PDF) ISSN 0082-7002 (PRINT) | ISSN 2343-3175 (ONLINE)